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The federal government's efforts at rural resettlement during the 1930s
resulted in the creation of more than one hundred different communities, each
of them conceived for the needs of destitute Americans. This thesis relates the
history of two of these communities in Phoenix, Arizona, the Rural Homes in
Arizona, Unit B, and the Arizona Part-Time Farms, Baxter Tract. The history
follows them from their inception under the government's Division of
Subsistence Homesteads in 1933 through their liquidation by the National
Public Housing Authority in 1948. Using primary source material from the
National Archives, Government reports and publications, local newspaper
articles, and interviews with original residents, the neighborhood's rich history
comes to life.

The significance of this history is compounded by the fact that the two
communities being considered, exist today as the Phoenix Homesteads, a
National Historic District. The Phoenix Homesteads stand as an excellent
example of a detailed, and oftentimes controversial, government program to
provide low-cost rural housing to Americans struck by the Great Depression.
There are both successes and failures to be noted in the community's history.
However, the Phoenix Homesteads epitomize a unique historical treasure. It is
a necessary and meaningful function of historical research to document these

important developments in American regional and national history.
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In 1933, approximately 50,000 people lived in Phoenix. At that time the
unpaved Thomas Road and 28th Street lay two and a half miles beyond the
city limits on land used primarily for agriculture. But not for long. In the
nation's capital, newly inaugurated President Franklin Delano Roosevelt was
embarking upon his New Deal, a complex mix of federal programs dedicated to
relieving economic distress, a portion of which would, ultimately, alter the
landscape of suburban Phoenix. Part of Roosevelt's New Deal included one of
the most interesting and controversial social experiments ever attempted in
the United States, a bold plan to turn dry Arizona land into a utopian society of
prosperity and happiness.

Sixty-five houses, a community center, and a cooperative farm,
complete with a dairy and poultry section, were eventually erected under
federal resettlement plans in an area bounded by Thomas Road to the south,
26th Street on the west, Osborn on the north, and 28th Street on the east.
Today, the area and buildings which remain from the government's
undertaking are collectively known as the Phoenix Homesteads. These
Phoenix Homesteads represent one segment of Roosevelt's New Deal
experiments, an extant portion that continues to function as a National
Historic District.!

The project aimed to rescue people from the ravages of an economic

depression and to provide a healthful and rewarding life in a community setting.

1 Today the entire historic district is known as the Phoenix Homesteads.
However, this was not always the case. Initially, only the first phase, the
Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, was known by this title and then only after
it's completion. The second phase, the Arizona Part-Time Farms, Baxter
Tract, joined the already organized Phoenix Homesteads in 1941. In this
Thesis, unless otherwise noted, the title Phoenix Homesteads will be used in the
contemporary understanding to signify the entire project.
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possessed a strong pioneer feeling and came together frequently for social
occasions, educational lectures, and business reasons. Part-time work in
Phoenix was mandatory for each head of a household, though most considered
the labor they did on their individual garden plots more profitable since it
directly contributed to their family's diet.

The twenty-five homes built under a project called Rural Homes In
Arizona, Unit B, came first. The second phase, the Arizona Part-Time Farms,
on the more northerly Baxter Tract, consisted of thirty-five homes. While the
two sections differed in organization and in the responsibilities of the residents,
they were, on the whole, quite similar. The federal government planned and
closely monitored virtually every aspect of the Phoenix Homesteads.
Residents had to conform to specific requirements regarding age, race and
occupational experience. Federal agents even projected the precise amounts of
food necessary for the homesteaders to live. Constructed with local materials,
the homes served as models of low cost yet substantial housing. The

government allowed very little deviation from its plans.

The Phoenix Homesteads became a possibility with the establishment
of the Division of Subsistence Homesteads (DSH) in the Department of the
Interior. This agency, forged in 1933, served as the foundation for the New
Deal's so-called back-to-the-land movement. The DSH initiated thirty-four
projects across the country, including the first phase of the Phoenix
Homesteads, which it named the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B. Shortly
after the creation of the DSH, the Federal Emergency Relief Administration
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duties, the DRR instituted homestead projects. A certain amount of
overlapping responsibility was to be expected in a federal relief program as
large as the New Deal. And while the DRR was not directly in involved with the
Phoenix Homesteads, it did influence the instigation of the second phase of
development of what came to be known as the Arizona Part-Time Farms,
Baxter Tract.

In the spring of 1935 both the DSH and the FERA were dismantled,
their operations being transferred to a newly created entity, the Resettlement
Administration (RA). The Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, had not quite
reached completion and in 1935 the RA finished it and helped organize the
residents into the Phoenix Homestead Association. The RA simultaneously
focused on the Arizona Part-Time Farms, which encompassed three different
sections in the valley. One of these parcels included a piece of land purchased
by the DSH. This tract, and additional land purchased at a later date, became
known as the Baxter Tract. A collective farm that accompanied the Baxter
Tract took the name of the Camelback Farms Incorporated. The other two
projects constituting the Arizona Part-Time Farms were located in the nearby
communities of Glendale and Chandler.

In 1937, the authority to supervise part-time farming projects was
removed from the RA and given to the Farm Security Administration (FSA), a
new agency within the Department of Agriculture. The FSA accepted control
of all projects completed and/or begun by its predecessor agencies. This
included all properties presently known as the Phoenix Homesteads. The FSA

had no discretionary power to begin new enterprises so their involvement with
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projects.

In 1941, the two homestead units operating between Thomas and
Osborn roads—the former Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, and the Arizona
Part-Time Farms, Baxter Tract— merged under the already organized Phoenix
Homestead Association. About the same time, the FSA came under
increasingly heavy criticism and scrutiny by the United States Senate. By
1942, the desperate economic conditions responsible for encouraging the
establishment of federally subsidized resettlement projects had passed and
such projects received frequent criticism. Accordingly, all homestead and part-
time farming projects were transferred to the Federal Public Housing
Authority and subsequently the Public Housing Administration. During this
time the government took steps to liquidate the properties. By 1948 all federal
responsibility for the Phoenix Homesteads ceased.

Following termination from the federal bureaucracy, the Phoenix
Homestead Association Incorporated continued to operate. Still, even that
organization lost much of its appeal and vigor after the return to good times
following World War II. After 1965 the association fell into inactivity.
However, in 1980, residents garnered a renewed interest in their community's
unique history. First, they renewed the incorporation of the Phoenix
Homestead Association, then they formally documented the history of the area
with a nomination as an historic district to the National Register of Historic
Places. Official recognition of the neighborhood's historic significance came
from the National Register of Historic Places in 1987. Today, the Phoenix
Homestead Association actively promotes and retains the historic qualities of

the community.
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movements. First, they represent a belief in the benefits of living close to the
land in a supportive community environment. In this, they are part of a
system of values that holds that living in conjunction with the outdoors,
providing directly for one's own self, and sharing in the benefits of a cooperative
society, provide a better standard and quality of life than living for the purely
materialistic interests of modern industrial living. Secondly, the Phoenix
Homesteads are an outstanding example of an attempt by the federal
government to become intimately involved in the lives of its citizens by
creating a system of relief and rehabilitation. The federal government's efforts
in this regard during the 1930s resulted in the creation of more than one
hundred different communities, each of them conceived for the needs of
destitute Americans. Although seen by many as the beginning of a new stage
in American history, it resembles more closely, perhaps, a return to the ideals
of nineteenth century Jeffersonian Republicanism. In any case, the Phoenix
Homesteads epitomize a unique historical treasure.

My goals in writing this thesis are twofold. My first and foremost
intention is to relate the previously unclear history of the Phoenix Homesteads,
from its inception in 1933 to its liquidation in 1948. I shall examine the two
phases, the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, and the Arizona Part-Time
Farms, Baxter Tract, as they developed separately and later after they joined
operations. I will present a clear account of the agencies responsible, the

people involved, and the motivation behind particular activity on the projects.
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In 1935, the Phoenix Homesteads were two and a half miles outside the
city; today they are in the heart of the Valley's sprawling metropolis. Similar
expansion has obscured other former homestead projects and, as a result, very
few remain today. It is a necessary and important function of historical
research to document these important developments in American regional and
national history.

The secondary goal of this thesis is to place the development and
operation of the Phoenix Homesteads and its associated properties into the
national scene of community building undertaken during the New Deal, and to
show how developments at the Phoenix Homesteads compare to the many
other projects instituted at that time. The Phoenix Homesteads are
simultaneously typical and atypical of the rural resettlement projects.
Understanding how the homesteads functioned within the changing
government agencies and in relation to the hundreds of other projects
elucidates its significance.

This unique community stands as one of the Valley's most important
cultural resources. Not only was the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, one of
only four projects initiated by the DSH in the West, but the Phoenix
Homesteads are uncommon because, among other reasons, they involved
input by all five government agencies which took responsibility for the projects
at one time or another.

To grasp the magnitude of the Phoenix Homesteads project, one must
first understand the history and ideology of the back-to-the-land movements
taking place throughout the United States in the 1930s. For this reason, I
have devoted some time to the establishment of the DSH and the influence of



[image: image14.jpg]its first director, M. L. Wilson, for it was from his agency that other federal
offices took their lead.

Piecing the history of this community together has proved a difficult, but
rewarding exercise. Studies on New Deal communities are surprisingly limited.
One notable exception is Paul Conkin's award winning book, Tomorrow a New
World: The New Deal Community Programs (1959). Beyond this book, and the
biographies of some of the key players in the Roosevelt administration, men
such as Rexford Guy Tugwell and Harold C. Ickes, one can only pick up bits
and pieces of specific information on the New Deal community programs.

On the other hand, I found a surprisingly large number of sources
important in the understanding of both the history of the back-to-the-land
movement, which contributed a philosophical justification to the subsistence
homestead program, and the arguments for and against the federal
government undertaking such a program. Contemporary articles in several
scientific, historical, and popular periodicals were highly informative.
Particularly important were articles written by individuals personally involved
in the projects, such as M. L. Wilson, director of the DSH, Rexford Tugwell,
administrator of the RA, and several others. Government reports and
publications from the agencies in charge of the homestead projects were
tremendously helpful in understanding the particular goals and intentions of
the government. Articles in the Arizona Republic and the Phoenix Gazette
illustrated the physical progression of the project and, what is more important,
the response of the community. In addition to this research, I have had the

opportunity to interview several charter members of the communities.
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completed in Record Group 96, Records of the Farmers Home Administration,
at the National Archives in Washington D. C. Documents from the Farmers
Home Administration contains hundreds of thousands of pages of detailed
information about the various agencies involved in the Phoenix Homesteads.
Everything from audit reports, bimonthly narrative reports on the
construction and operation of the community, to drawings of buildings,
inspection reports, and the final liquidation agreements are included. Of this
source Paul Conkin correctly observed, "No adequate history of the
communities can be written without these all-important records.”" In my own
research, I spent six frantic days at the National Archives and returned with

over six-hundred pages of material, all of it germane to this thesis.
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President Franklin D. Roosevelt and the
Origins of the Division of Subsistence Homesteads

"space and freedom, contact with nature,

and a chance to establish a permanent home."1

"I do not believe that the government owes anyone a job or an income,
but I do believe that the government owes it to the American people
that they be given an opportunity to make their own jobs

and work for their own living."2

One of the first lessons learned from the Depression was that the
centralization of industry had defects. Compressing large numbers of the
country's workers into restricted urban areas presented hazards to both the
laborer and the employer. As one government circular warned, "It took only
the impact of economic stress to strike the names of thousands upon
thousands of . . . workers off the pay rolls and write them on the relief roles."3

Prior to the collapse of the stock market in 1929, nationwide interest in
the back-to-the-land movement remained nebulous, driven only by an eclectic

array of idealists with little consensus on what specifically should be done or

1 Franklin D. Roosevelt, "Back to the Land," Reviews of Reviews, October
1931, p. 64.

2 John H. Bankhead, "The One Way to Permanent National Recovery,"
Liberty Magazine, July 1933, p. 18.

3 Us. Department of the Interior, Division of Subsistence Homesteads, A
Homestead and Hope (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office,
1935), p. 8.
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why.4 But as the economic downturn tightened its grip on the country, people
began to look more seriously at what had caused this affliction and, more
importantly, what steps could be taken to alleviate it. Attention eventually
centered on subsistence homesteads as a possible answer. Clearly, there were
national economic recovery benefits to be realized by providing citizens with
welcome relief in a healthful and secure living situation. Homesteads were
considered a serious option.

Subsistence homesteads were seen by many Americans as an integral
part of a necessary decentralization process for industry.5 By relocating
various aspects of a company's production process to non-urban locations,
people could be given the opportunity to live in rural areas and supplement
their income by cultivating a portion of their own food in personal gardens.

Advances in communication and transportation made this option viable for

4 The philosophical roots of behind subistence homesteading can be traced
from the time of Thomas Jefferson through the early twentieth century.
Druing this time,the belief in the virtues associated with living close to the land
manifested itself in many different ways. Some of the earliest group efforts
were attempted during the nineteenth century by the communitarian
experiments of the Shakers, New Harmony, and Onieda. Numerous other
groups and individuals have tried their luck since that time. Through these
experiences a pattern emerges which sees group farming and subsistence
farming experiments becoming particularly popular during times of economic
depression. Attempting such an experiment during the New Deal fits into a
previously established cycle of back-to-the-land experiments. Paul Conkin,
Tomorrow A New World: The New Deal Community Program, (Ithaca, New
York: Cornell University Press, 1959), pp. 13-30. Alfred W. Griswold,
Farming and Democracy, (New Haven, Connecticut: Yale University Press,
1952), p. 24. Theodore Saloutos, The American Farmer and the new Deal,
(Ames, iowa: The Iowa State University Press, 1982) , p. 155. Barbara
McEwan, Thomas Jefferson: Farmer, (Jefferson, Norht Carolina: McFarland &
Co. Inc., 1991).

5 M. L. Wilson, "Decentralization of Industry in the New Deal," Social Forces,
May 1935, pp. 588-598.
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industry while technological improvements such as electricity, refrigeration,
natural gas for cooking, and power machinery made it possible to enjoy the
benefits of a city without actually living in one.6 The presumption stood that
advantages for both industry and workers would result.”

Furthermore, by stimulating employment prospects through the
decentralization of industry, and by providing low cost financing to potential
home owners, a subsistence homestead program might enable a family to own
its own home. At the time, two thirds of the industrial workers in the United
States suffered through sub-standard housing and less than fifty percent of all
families owned a house. These figures were deemed entirely unacceptable in a
country where people looked upon private property as a God-given right.

Franklin Delano Roosevelt, Governor of New York, knew well the
popularity of the back-to-the-land movement. He fully understood its history,
causes, problems, and especially, its potential benefits to society. In 1931 he
stated: "The question we need to exercise is whether we cannot plan a better
distribution of our population as between the larger city and the smaller
country communities. . . . A farm and a rural home are not necessarily the
same thing."8 Again in 1932, Governor Roosevelt asked: "Are we not beginning

to envisage the possibility of a lower cost of living by having a greater

6 Roosevelt, "Back to the Land, " p. 64.

7 M. L. Wilson, "A New Land-Use Program: The Place of Subsistence
Homesteads," The Journal of Land and Public Utility Economics, X (February
1934) : 8; Harry Hopkins, "Beyond Relief: The Larger Task," New York Times
Magazine, August 19, 1934, p. 2.

8 Roosevelt, "Back to the Land," p. 64.
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percentage of our population living a little closer to the source of supply?"'9 In
less than a year, President Roosevelt became the most prominent advocate of
subsistence homesteading the country had yet known. But to accomplish that
formidable task would require all the talents at his disposal.

In 1932 a depression worn electorate made Governor Roosevelt the
thirty-second President of the United States by such a wide margin that the
election could only be interpreted as a national mandate for change. Roosevelt
saw an opportunity to institute some of the land policies he had supported
throughout his campaign and for a great part of his life. He brought with him
both a philosophy and a sincere desire to deal with the back-to-the-land
advocates in a way that would benefit homesteaders, industry, and the country
as a whole. As Ralph Borsodi wrote in 1934, it was "not only a major policy of
his [Roosevelt's] administration but a primary purpose of his life to put into
effect a workable back-to-the-land movement."10

Combining his knowledge of other part-time farming ventures
attempted in the recent past with his own personal belief in the viability of
subsistence homesteading and the decentralization of industry, Roosevelt
prepared to implement his own program.1!l Only a few short months after his

inauguration, he took the necessary steps required to move his ideas from

9 Ralph Borsodi, "Subsistence Homesteads: President Roosevelt's New Land
and Population Policy,"” Survey Graphic, January 1934, p. 11.

10 Ibid. , p. 11.

11 Wilson, "Decentralization of Industry,” p. 592.
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conceptualization to actuality. This drive enabled the subsistence homestead
program to become a reality.12 This determination ultimately led to a number
of developments in Arizona, including both sections of the Phoenix
Homesteads.

One of the most important steps which Roosevelt took as he began his
New Deal was to surround himself with counselors, a group of intelligentsia
known as the "brain-trust."13 These contentious economists, scholars, and
lawyers played a significant role in developing the social and economic
principles of the New Deal. The subsistence homestead program counts as
just one of the many projects which their input was instrumental. Men such
as Milbourn L. Wilson, the first director of the DSH, Henry A. Wallace,
Secretary of Agriculture and supporter of subsistence homestead programs,
and Rexford Guy Tugwell, Director of the RA, the successor to the subsistence
homestead program, counted among Roosevelt's most trusted advisers.14
Senator John Bankhead, author of the amendment creating the subsistence
homestead program, and Ralph Borsodi, longtime proponent of the back-to-
the-land philosophy and recipient of the first subsistence homestead project,
also played important roles in the development of the program. The farm

program could only succeed through a team effort.

12 Arthur M. Schlesinger, The Age of Roosevelt: The Coming of the New Deal
(Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1958) , pp. 362-63.

13 Michael Martin and Leonard Gelber, Dictionary of American History
(Totowa, New Jersey: Littlefield, Adams, & Co., 1965), p. 77.

14 Russell Lord, The Wallaces of Iowa (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company,
1947); Michael Namorato, Rexford G. Tugwell: A Biography (New York, New
York: Praeger Publishers, 1988); and Conkin, Tomorrow.
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A subsistence homestead program was, as the government put it,
widely seen as "a family restoration program, designed to help families become
self-supporting and to humanize living conditions. . . . a program of social and
economic salvage."15 Relying on the family unit rather than a company
payroll was considered a step in the direction of building a more stable nation.
The change from crowded city living to self-supportive rural life showed
promise for providing security during both good times and, what is more
important, bad times. Every proponent clung to the idea of increased social
returns as a glowing sign of the desirability of a homestead community. This
tremendous faith in the resilience and independent nature of Americans,
though idealistic, proved to be a reoccurring theme in many of Roosevelt's

solutions for the depression.

The idea of subsistence homesteads also had its detractors: "When and
if such a program on a wholesale scale is embarked upon, then it will be
possible to say that the United States has gone fascist," stated one
antagonist.16 Other critics labeled the concept "sheer fantasy,” a "romantic

dream," or a "social twilight zone."17 One of the negative arguments heard

15yus. Department of the Interior, Division of Subsistence Homesteads, A
Homestead and Hope (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office,
1935), p. 10.

16 Louis M. Hacker, "Plowing the Farm Under," Harper's Magazine, June
1934, p. 74.

17 Hacker, "Plowing the Farm," p. 74; Harold M. Ware, and Webster Powell,
"Planning For Permanent Poverty: What Subsistence Farming Really Stands
For," Harper's Magazine, April 1935, p. 514.
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most often focused on the economic ramifications of placing people on farms.
Did it not follow that putting more farmers on the land, even part-time
farmers, would result in increased competition for the already struggling class
of traditional farmers in the country? Farm prices would be driven down,
thereby contributing to the depression rather than ending it.18 This argument
persisted throughout the history of the resettlement communities.

Supporters, including the President, countered that large acreage would not be
used in the programs. Food was to be grown only for individual use, with limited
amounts going to market. Cash crops, such as cotton and wheat, would not be
produced at all.19

Another common argument condemning the program suggested that
popular interest in returning to the land or farms was only ephemeral, merely a
reaction to the hard times temporarily facing the country. According to this
theory, as soon as prosperity returned, those who fled to the subsistence
homesteads would once again return to the city in pursuit of the more
comfortable way of life left behind. An article in a 1933 edition of the New
Republic captured this sentiment:

We can no more return to these past conditions than we
can return to our childhood. . . . It is still physically possible
for men to live like peasants of the thirteenth century. . . .
But the restless pull of the current of money, automobiles,
radios, Greta Garbo will sweep away and dissolve in the
common whirlpool any group that seeks in any degree to
approximate the older economy.20

18 Hacker, "Plowing the Farm," p. 74.

19 John H. Bankhead, "The One Way," p. 18; Wilson, "A New Land-Use
Program,” p. 10.

20 Willard T. Davis, and Malcolm Cowely, "How Far Back to the Land?," New
Republic, August 9, 1933, p. 336.
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Proponents of the homestead program, while aware of these potential
pitfalls, did not consider them cause for concern. Milbourn L. Wilson, soon

named as the first Director of the DSH, responded with conviction:

It is a question still unanswered as to whether the century-
old trend of population toward the 'bright lights' of the city
can be checked. . . . This work aims not at a movement
'back’' to anything, but rather at the development of a new
form of community living made possible by modern
industrial and technological development, as well as by the
growth of a more traditional approach to questions of land
utilization.21

Government spokesmen argued that the combination of healthful rural
living, with proximity to the comforts of a near-by urban center, would quell
any desires a person might harbor for city living. But, as a matter of fact, the
pull of the city did play a significant role in the downfall of many of these
experiments, including those of the Phoenix Homesteads.

One of the more cogent arguments opposing the homestead program
was based on the fact that population fluctuations between city and country
occur naturally. A rudimentary investigation of migration patterns across the
United States led some people to assume that no single generation of people
could be attracted to remain tied to the land for long, government programs or
enticements notwithstanding. One of the advocates of this notion, Philip M.
Glick, General Council for the Federal Subsistence Homesteads Corporation,

observed, "It is probably a mistake to regard the present trend toward this

21 Wilson, "A New Land-Use Program," p. 12.
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type of industrial-agricultural organization as a function of the depression
solely, and to anticipate its disappearance should the depression end."22

Another charge went directly to the issue of whether city-folk could
support themselves by farming. Russell Lord perhaps best expressed this
concern when he wrote, "My argument is not against a return to nature, but
against a return to farming. My attack is upon the delusion, to-day prevalent,
that anyone who cannot make a living at anything else can at least go out and
make a living by engaging in agriculture."?3 Lord knew from personal
experience what many homesteaders came to learn later; farming is more than
simply placing seeds in the dirt and watching them grow.

Counterpoints to such criticism had to be considered and planners for
the federal government listened carefully. They made every effort to address
the problems brought to light. Those in favor of the proposal remained resolute
and unyielding. Because the back-to-the-land movement was taking place
with or without governmental regulation, they argued, would it not be better to
harness its social and economic power in an organized effort to rebuild the
country? Ifleft unchecked, not only would a tremendous opportunity for
revitalization be lost, but without organization and planning the movement

would likely contribute to the economic depression!

22 Philip M. Glick, "The Federal Subsistence Homesteads Program,” Yale Law
Review XLIV (October 1935) : 1325.

23 Russell Lord, "Back to the Farm," Forum, February 1933, p. 98.
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At the request of President Roosevelt, Senator John H. Bankhead of
Alabama led the fight in Congress for the subsistence homestead program.24
Bankhead, a long-time adherent of the back-to-the-land movement, believed
that the subsistence homestead program promised to be "the only wise and
permanent solution of any otherwise insoluble problem of relief."25 Like most
proponents of the idea, he considered life on the farm as spiritually rewarding
and noble. He appreciated the historic connection between rural life and the
traditional prosperity of the country. Thus, with personal enthusiasm,
Bankhead fought diligently to serve his President.

The first two proposals Bankhead steered through Congress, both
introduced in the spring of 1933, failed. One bill requested the then-unheard of
amount of $400 million.26 Despite the incredulity such a figure aroused in
others, the President remained adamant and Bankhead stood firm in his
devotion to the principle of the homestead program.

Bankhead's third proposal had better success. In May, he attached his
bill as a rider to the National Industrial Recovery Act (NIRA). This act, one of
Roosevelt's major pieces of economic recovery legislation, passed in Congress
and received the President's signature on June 16, 1933.27 The NIRA provided

for codes of fair competition, regulations regarding child labor, collective

24 Schlesinger, The Age of Roosevelt, p. 363.
25 Bankhead, "The One Way," p. 18.

26 The first Bill was introduced March 10, 1933, the second April 17, 1933.
U.S. Senate, 73rd Cong., 1st sess., Senate Bill 69, and 1503.

27 Glick, "The Federal Subsistence Homesteads," p. 1324,
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provisions.28 Little observed at the time, tucked away in Section 208, Title II,
the NIRA also gave birth to the subsistence homestead program with these

words:

To provide for aiding the redistribution of the overbalance
of population in industrial centers $25,000,000 is hereby
made available to the President, to be used by him, through
such agencies as he may establish and under such
regulations as he may make, for making loans for and
otherwise aiding in the purchase of subsistence
homesteads. The moneys collected as repayment of said
loans shall constitute a revolving fund to be administered
as directed by the President for the purchase of this
section.29

Initially surrounded by uncertainty as to who or what agency had the
responsibility to create a program and distribute the $25 million for
subsistence homesteads, the President waited until July 21, 1933, before
authorizing Harold Ickes, the Secretary of the Interior, to administer section
208.30 Ickes immediately designated M. L. Wilson, whose advice had been
instrumental to both the President and Senator Bankhead, to prepare a

prospectus.31

28 Martin and Gelber, Dictionary of American History, p. 424.

29 Sec. 208, Title II, National Industrial Recovery Act of 1933. "Industrial
centers" were singled out because they were tremendously overcrowded. In
1929, 74% of industrial workers were living on only 4.5% of the available land in
the United States.

30 Franklin D. Roosevelt, Executive Order Number 6209, July 21, 1933;
USDI, A Homestead and Hope, p. 5.

31Sidney Baldwin, Poverty and Politics: The Rise and Decline of the Farm
Security Administration (Chapel Hill, North Carolina: The University of North
Carolina Press, 1968) , p. 70; Mont H. Saunderson, "M. L. Wilson: A Man to
Remember," Montana, Autumn 1984, p. 62-3.
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M. L. Wilson, whose commitment to agriculture partook of the heart as
well as the head, adhered firmly to the attributes of subsistence homesteads.
A visionary who believed in the benefits of rural living based on his own life's
experience, Wilson was determined to establish American society on a newer
and sounder basis under the subsistence homestead program.32 He considered
the melding of industrial/urban life with rural/agricultural pursuits and
community living as among the highest rewards that could be provided by any
lifestyle. "Life which is entirely rural or entirely urban prevents the fullest
realization of their [people's] needs for sustenance, companionship, and
security,” Wilson mused.33

He saw the decentralization of industry as benefiting both industry and
its employees. Workers reaped the benefits of a "greater stability and a more
healthful life," and, because part-time farming laborers were expected to have
a greater sense of security, the theory went that industry would profit from, "a
more satisfactory labor force."3¢ In addition to this golden dream, Wilson's
experience as a homesteader and farm operator in Montana had reinforced his
personal convictions. Although his own homestead did not prove successful, he

learned there was room for further experimentation with the idea of part-time

32 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 94; Schlesinger, The Age of Roosevelt, p. 363.
33 Wilson, "A New Land-Use Program,” p. 3.

34 1bid., p. 8.
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farming. Moreover, the undertaking instilled in him a resolve to see more such
projects attempted.35

Wilson rationalized his support for subsistence homesteading several
ways. First there were the physical and economic advantages provided by the
farm. To begin, part-time farmers eat better food with more and fresher fruits,
vegetables, poultry, and dairy products than ordinarily received by city
dwellers. In addition, it was possible to supplement personal income by selling
excess produce. Homesteads were also a form of insurance against
unemployment, or, at the very least, a secure place for retirement.

Just as important, though slightly more idealistic, Wilson believed in the
aesthetic advantages of rural living. Rural life offered an excellent place to rear
children, there were wonderful benefits associated with a closer relationship
with the outdoors, and a modestly isolated lifestyle reduced the "urge to keep
up with the Joneses' by creating a plainer lifestyle." Similarly, Wilson declared
that "homesteading offers the worker and his family a chance to utilize their
increasing leisure time in more uplifting and more cultural activities."36

Simply stated, Wilson viewed the subsistence homestead program as
providing the best of both in the industrial world, which modern society
revolved around, and the agrarian world, which he assumed they desired. He
took a pragmatic view that people, if given the choice, would prefer to live
closer to the land. Giving them such a choice had always presented the major

obstacle.

35 Harry C. McDean, "M. L. Wilson and the Origins of Federal Farm Policy in
the Great Plains,” Montana, Autumn 1984, p. 59.

36 Wilson, "Decentralization of Industry,” pp. 597-8.
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Interestingly, within the back-to-the-land movement, Wilson would be
considered a moderate. Other advocates, such as Ralph Borsodi, author of
This Ugly Civilization (1929) and Flight From the City, (1933), took a more
radical stance. An "escapist” who totally condemned city living, Borsodi found
absolutely nothing whatsoever of redeeming value within the confines of the

urban environment.37

Wilson initially targeted seven sets of workers in need of urgent
assistance:
(1) Stranded industrial populations. This group consisted mainly of mining and
timber workers unemployed because of closure or resource depletion.
(2) Workers unemployed due to older age.
(3) Workers faced with unproductive idle time due to a shortening of the work
day and the work week by industry.
(4) Laborers, such as those in tourism, effected by cyclical employment.
(5) Seasonal workers, including those in agriculture.
(6) Workers affected by the inevitable decentralization of industry.
(7) Persons from stranded agricultural communities where the land could no

longer support as many people.38

37 See Ralph Borsodi, Flight From the City: The Story of a New Way to Family
Security New York: Harper & Brothers Publishers, 1933), and Ralph Borsodi,
This Ugly Civilization (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1929).

38 U. S. Department of the Interior, General Information Concerning the
Purposes and Policies of the Division of Subsistence Homesteads (Washington,
D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1933), pp. 2-6; U.S. Department of
Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Recent Developments in Subsistence
Homesteads Movement," Monthly Labor Review, XXXVIII (February 1934),
p. 245.
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After only a week and a half of preparation, on August 1, 1933, Wilson
previewed for Harold Ickes his final and revised vision for the subsistence
homesteads program. Here he narrowed the types of communities he saw as
being necessary down to four.39

(1) Colonies for stranded industrial workers . These projects were
specifically intended for industrial workers who no longer had the opportunity
to practice their skills in their present residence because of factory closure or
other circumstances. Such victims would be relocated to rural communities
where employment opportunities were still available and furnished with a
home and enough acreage to provide a portion of their own food.40

(2) Colonies for part-time industrial workers. This plan would
function only under unique circumstances. It called for relocating government
sponsored industries away from urban settings, and bringing them to the
employees. Once again, part-time work and a subsistence garden would be the
norm. This sort of extreme government intervention resulted in particularly
harsh criticism.

(3) Subsistence gardens for city workers. Commonly called
workingmen's garden homes, these communities were little more than
suburban residences which included a small plot of land enabling the resident to
provide a portion of the family's sustenance through part-time gardening.

Placed outside of established industrial centers, the resident would benefit from

39 Initially, five types of projects had been named. USDI, General
Information, p. 7-8.

40 Wilson, "Decentralization of Industry,” p. 595; M. L. Wilson, "The Place of
Subsistence Homesteads in Our National Economy," Journal of Farm
Economics, XIV (1934) : 82-3; Conkin, Tomorrow, pp. 104-5.
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the proximity of available employment. It was this type of project which
initiated the Phoenix Homesteads.

(4) Experimental farm communities. These projects would be
provided for stranded agricultural farmers unable to continue making their
living from the land. Similar to the communities for stranded industrial
workers, the farmers in these projects would be relocated to more productive
land and brought together to live in a community.

The general justification behind Section 208 of the NIRA was that it
would relieve sundry types of undesirable economic situations which had been
brought under closer scrutiny by the ravages of the depression. The groups
which Wilson chose to focus upon had been around for a considerable time and
their situations could not be attributed solely to the Great Depression.

One can hardly look at the intentions of the program without having
doubts as to its potential success. Perhaps it was overly ambitious to believe
that a new government program could, or should, attempt to make life as
secure as the Roosevelt administration intended. In any case, the multitude of
questions surrounding the upstart program would now be worked out in the
field rather than the bureaucratic atmosphere of the nation's capital.

Anticipation ran high for the government's venture into the private sector

On August 23, 1933, Secretary of the Interior Ickes, acknowledging
Wilson's insight and planning, established the Division of Subsistence
Homesteads within his department. Ickes, naturally, named Wilson as

director, thus giving him the chance he desired to rework the attitude of the
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United States towards rural lifestyles.4l Because there were no real guidelines
stipulating exactly what the DSH wanted to do and how it might allocate its
funds, Wilson faced a formidable task. It was, nevertheless, a task he felt
compelled to undertake.

If Wilson stood momentarily without direction, he certainly did not lack
for advice from others. Both within the Department of the Interior and from
around the country, people offered their unsolicited perspectives on how the
program could best be organized and whom it should serve. Some individuals
spoke out against the DSH, frequently comparing it to Russian communism.
Many others gratefully accepted and welcomed the potential relief. In the
early stages of development, when people presented ideas for homesteads and
homestead communities, the total amount requested exceeded a tremendous
$4.5 billion. In the end, Wilson preferred to rely on his own judgment, confident
that as long as the DSH existed, prosperity would follow.

Problems abounded from the outset. Wilson had no models and very few
research studies upon which to base his projections. Moreover, projects
previously attempted had not combined industrial employment with part-time
farming. And these were only the theoretical obstacles. Realistic questions of
legality, constitutionality, and simple public relations also faced the division.
But Wilson dedicated himself to the task and he, like the President and others
who had shown interest in the subsistence homestead movement, saw his
appointment as more than simply a job, he saw it as a calling to help make
America a better place to live.42 With a wealth of knowledge, Wilson eagerly
set out to make the theory conform to reality.

4171pid., p. 97-8.

42 Schlesinger, "The Age of Roosevelt," p. 263; Conkin, Tomorrow, pp. 94-7.
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Wilson knew complications had cropped up in previous part-time
farming experiments, both in the United States and in Europe.43 The thorny
questions of how to choose settlers and where to buy land, for example, ranked
at the top of Wilson's list when it came time to consider the necessary
ingredients for a successful homestead experiment. His primary fear, however,
was that too much government involvement would take initiative away from
the participants, reduce their motivation, and contribute to feelings of
disenchantment with the program.

Wilson preferred a decentralized subsistence homestead program, one
which would have the benefits of governmental organization but not the
paternalistic feeling of a "big brother" constantly overseeing day to day
developments. "The greatest degree of local autonomy in the management of
projects is granted," Wilson decreed.44 The result of this important and
controversial decision meant that the planning for all projects would take place
locally, at the very sites where the projects were being considered. State
agricultural colleges, their experiment stations and extension services were
consulted, as were other state and local agencies whose input might be of
benefit. Unlike some others, Wilson never questioned the wisdom of having the
government sponsor these homesteads; he wanted to preclude as many

mistakes as possible.45

43 In Germany part-time farming had been attempted with some degree of
success and Wilson looked to this example for inspiration. Wilson, "New Land
Use Program," p. 3.

44 Ivid. , p. 10.

45 1bid. , p. 6.
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Wilson realized that the subsistence homestead program was
experimental and under the circumstances, he felt it best to focus at first on
exhibition projects in order to point the government in the right direction for
future expansion of the program.46 Besides, considering the relatively small
amount of money given the division, fiscal restraints simply would not permit
him to address anything more than an upstart program. Even so, he wanted
his projects to be located in economically troubled regions and selected on a
basis of local need and suitability in addition to any value they might have for
demonstration purposes.4? Unfortunately, no specific guidelines for identifying
these kinds of locations existed. Perhaps it was enough to assume that
practically every part of the country faced desperate situations and would
benefit from the division's efforts.

Finally, Wilson believed it noteworthy that his program had not been
established simply to provide relief; that responsibility had been delegated to
the Federal Emergency Relief Administration and its much more substantial
budget of $500 million. He viewed the responsibility of the DSH as being that
of an agency dedicated to "preventing future need for relief from arising."48
That is, the FERA was charged with relief for current conditions, while the
DSH needed to consider reshaping some of the nation's foundation stones in
order to prevent a reoccurrence of the depression. "It must be borne in mind
that the subsistence homestead work is not primarily a relief program,”

reassured Wilson, for "homesteaders will be required to repay the loans

46 1bhid. , p.- 2.
47 USDI, General Information, p. 7.

48 Ibid. , pp. 6-7.
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extended to them by the Government."49 He felt proud of the work he was
about to undertake, not apologetic.

Acting with a sense of urgency, as did most New Deal programs, the
DSH funded its first two projects in October of 1933.50 Not surprisingly, the
first loan went to a project in Dayton, Ohio under the leadership of Ralph
Borsodi. As a longtime back-to-the-farm advocate, Borsodi was prepared to
take advantage of the government loan program as soon as the DSH
organized. The second, and, as it turned out, more controversial project, took
place in Reedsville/Arthurdale, West Virginia. Intended to assist out of work
coal miners, because of excessive costs and ambiguous objectives, this
homestead became the most disruptive project ever approved by Wilson and
the DSH. Trial and error were hallmarks of many New Deal programs and
should not reflect poorly on the DSH.

With the establishment of these two projects, Wilson looked forward to
testing his theories on real sites. As the first reports came back to
Washington, D. C., it soon became apparent that the program had even
greater potential than expected, especially with the limited funding and staff.
Unfortunately, of the hundreds of programs approved, only a handful were ever
developed, and of these, very a few attained anything approaching the high
hopes which people like Wilson and Borsodi placed upon the program. The
developments undertaken in Phoenix became one of the few bright spots in the

division's work.

49 Wilson, "A New Land-Use Program,” p. 11.

50 Russell Lord, "The Rebirth of Rural Life," Survey Graphic, December 1941,
p. 691.
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Inception and Implementation of the
Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B

e Benjamin Moeur, Governor of Arizona, proved instrumental in obtaining

the first phase of the Phoenix subsistence homestead project. Because of the

nature of its economy, primarily tourism and agriculture, the depression hit

Arizona especially hard. Governor Moeur welcomed the DSH as a savior for

the citizens of his state. In fact, almost immediately after the formation of the

e division, the Governor launched a campaign to locate a subsistence homestead
experiment in Arizona.

Taking note of its overt interest, on December 2, 1933, only a few
months after its creation, the DSH ranked Arizona high on its list of
prospective sites.! DSH Director Wilson, who considered Arizona an
"interesting State," promised Moeur one, and possibly two, homestead projects.
Upon hearing the good news, the governor passed word of these intentions on to

= the citizenry. Praise for the division's foresight rang out in numerous
newspaper editorials and letters to the editor. This reaction only helped the
cause. A necessary, even required, ingredient for any DSH project included

citizen approval. As Wilson put it in his usually awkward style, "The success

1 Miscellaneous Information, SH-AZ-2, Record Group 96, Records of the
Farmers Home Administration, National Archives, Suitland, Maryland;
Arizona Republic, 15 December 1933.
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of local undertakings depends to no small degree upon the interest and
endeavors of local groups who are interested in them."2

In part, Wilson hoped to make the DSH a success through
decentralization, removing many of the decisions necessary to the success of a
local project from Washington, D. C. Thus early on, the DSH acted to establish
field offices in all states regarded as potential homestead sites. After the
announcement that Arizona would have at least one homestead project, the
agency secured local offices and named P. V. Fuller as the state's first field
representative. Fuller, a native of Kansas who came to Phoenix in 1920,
served in a lightning rod-like capacity. He attracted the interest of anyone and
anything connected with either the DSH or the Arizona subsistence homestead
projects. Proclaiming an interest in engineering and farming, as well as his
required duties as a surveyor, Fuller jumped whole heartedly into his new job.3

Placing high merit on local and regional perspectives, Wilson encouraged
his field operatives to sample the wisdom of regional experts, state colleges, the
extension service, and local governments. He urged his subordinates to not
only pursue such contacts because of their cost-saving aspects in terms of
time and money, but he also considered them a necessary courtesy lest the
DSH arouse feelings of governmental paternalism. Because institutions of
higher education stood out as an obvious source of local expertise, the DSH

solicited advice from the University of Arizona.4 The University provided data

2 M. L. Wilson, "A New Land-Use Program: The Place of Subsistence
Homesteads," The Journal of Land and Public Utility Economics, X (February

1934): p. 10.
3 Arizona Republic, 16 December 1933, and 24 December 1933.

4 Paul Conkin, Tomorrow A New World: The New Deal Community Program
(Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, 1959), p. 105; Wilson, "A New
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on everything from soil fertility to the types of products which part-time
farmers should grow.

Although the DSH groomed local support in various ways, it operated
under strict guidelines when the time came for choosing which projects to
support and where to locate them. Wilson considered site selection as one of
the most important aspects of the subsistence homestead project.> In
Arizona, P. V. Fuller did the field work, but Wilson and his advisers made the
final determination regarding the suitability of an Arizona project.

Working closely with the University of Arizona and its extension service,
Fuller spent the six months between December 1933 and May 1934
investigating potential subsistence homestead sites around the state. To
merely survey a site was not enough. Fuller also included in his selection
process interviews with L. W. Otto, Arizona's Supervisor of Vocational
Agricultural Teaching, various academic "experts" on small farms, and
perhaps most importantly, ordinary "men and women who have weathered
hard times on small tracts of land."6 This first-hand contact with individuals
who understood what it took to succeed at small scale farming in Arizona gave
Fuller tremendous insight as he made decisions for the DSH.? A careful man,

he left very little to chance.

Land Use Program,” p. 10; U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor
Statistics, "Recent Developments in Subsistence Homesteads Movement,"
Monthly Labor Review, XXXVIII (February 1934) :. 252.

5 M. L. Wilson, "The Place of Subsistence Homesteads in Our National
Economy," Journal of Farm Economics XVI (January 1934) : 81-2.

6 Arizona Republic, 18 March 1934.

7 The DSH mandated that agricultural experts needed to be consulted about
the selection of land for the projects. U. S. Department of the Interior, General
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By soliciting advice and conducting research, Fuller decided that the size
of a subsistence homestead in Arizona need not be as large as those in other
locations of the country, such as those adversely affected by winter weather.
Because of the virtually year-round growing season, and the fertility of the soil
when irrigated, he determined one acre or less would be more than sufficient for
a part-time farm. The size of the farm was crucial inasmuch as it affected the
amount, and cost, of the land required by DSH. Equally important, Fuller
understood the commitment of his agency to "avoid aggravating the
agricultural surplus."® And, if the truth be known, the main reason that
agricultural experts assisted Fuller, Wilson, and others in the decision making
process, revolved around the fact that they did not wish to see a proliferation of
new farms competing with an already large and troubled population of
traditional farmers.

Numerous factors influenced Fuller's recommendation for a homestead
site as he worked up a short list of possibilities. The strength of the regional
economy and the availability of suitable land for farming were, of course,
considerations. But he also reviewed agricultural production statistics for the
area. Fuller even evaluated the kind and type of citizens from which selection
would take place.

In the end, Fuller decided that Arizona was best suited for what the DSH
termed a garden project, that is, a homestead designed for participants who

could work part time jobs in the city, but were principally rural residents who

Information Concerning the Purposes and Policies of the Division of Subsistence
Homesteads (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1933) , p. 10.

81bid., p. 10; M. L. Wilson, "Decentralization of Industry in the New Deal,"
Social Forces, May 1935, p. 591.
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spent the majority of the time working on small garden plots attached to their
homes. While this format could be applied to any number of situations
involving workers in industry, the Arizona project was by no means limited to
industrial laborers. Ninety percent of all DSH projects were of the garden-
home variety, as identified in Wilson's third project type.?

At an early stage Fuller focused his attention on three separate units as
potential homestead sites in Arizona. Unit I, at Christy Road and Lateral 16,
comprised a fifty-seven acre plot of land west of Phoenix. Unit II encompassed
a 74.73 acre tract of land two and three-fourths miles northeast of Phoenix.
Unit ITI, planned for Tucson, was a more remote possibility.

At Unit II, also referred to as Unit B, Fuller noted every last detail about
the property.10 No one needed to tell him twice that without the proper
location and an agreeable land quality the homestead projects would be doomed
to failure.ll There was no questioning this location's compelling advantages.

The suburban Phoenix location offered proximity to a population center
only two and three-quarters miles away, a not inconvenient distance to
commute for employment. The city's seasonal tourist trade was considered a

bonus as a source of part-time work.12 Another plus was the easy access to

9 U.S. Department of the Interior, Division of Subsistence Homesteads, A
Homestead and Hope (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office,
1935), p. 12; U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics,
"Subsistence Homesteads For Industrial and Rural Workers at the End of
1934, " Monthly Labor Review," XLI (January 1935) :. 21-22.

10 ¢. B. Baldwin, Assistant Administrator to Paul H. Appleby, May 19, 1937,
Record Group 96, Box 86.

11 United States Department of Agriculture, Planning a Subsistence
Homestead (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1934), p. 2;
USDI, A Homestead and Hope, p. 13.

12 Miscellaneous Information, SH-AZ-2, RG 96.
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the shopping, recreation, schools, and churches of Phoenix.13 Next, Fuller
satisfied himself that the site could be hooked up to the City of Phoenix for
water. Sewage could be handled with septic tanks, while irrigation and
electricity could be provided by the Salt River Valley Water Owners'
Association (SRVWOA). The fertility of the land concerned Fuller until further
empirical evidence proved that the land could provide abundant fruits and
vegetables.

As word of the imminent Arizona projects spread, potential applicants
sent hundreds of letters of inquiry to Washington, D. C. Most volunteered to
participate in the "government's experimental program.” While it is difficult to
fully comprehend the misery and desperation felt by many Arizonans, the
following letter from John E. Hall, of Higley, Arizona, to President Franklin D.
Roosevelt, suitably portrays the eagerness of one man who hoped to become a

subsistence homesteader.

Kind Sir I will write you a line or two to see if I can
get any action on any thing. I understand that the federal
Government are helping people who wish to settle down
and try to make their own living and that is what I am
interested in as this working for my age and going from
place to place hunting work is getting old and tiresome.
there is my wife and I we would like to have a chance to
prove to the world we could make our own living and get by
fine on 20 acres near Glendale Ariz. So if your people can
help a guy please write and let us know at once. it will be
Highly appreciated by us.14

13 USDI, A Homestead and Hope, p. 13.

14 John E. Hall to President Franklin D. Roosevelt, June 15, 1934, RG 96, Box
14.
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Wilson's decentralized guidelines required that each homestead project
be assisted by a local corporation, a legal entity that could borrow money from
the FSHC, contract with architects, and approve final plans for the homestead
community.15 Accordingly, all three units proposed for Arizona were
constituted in March, 1934 as the Rural Homes In Arizona, Incorporated.16 In
Wilson's estimation, incorporation gave homestead projects credibility. By
supplying the projects with legal status to contract out work and borrow
money, it accelerated their performance. Deliberate steps toward
establishment could then be taken. For example, the Rural Homes In Arizona
named R. T. Evans as the landscape and building architect. But while the
corporation represented all three potential homestead units in Arizona, only
Unit B was given the go ahead for construction and implementation.1?

The choice of R. T. Evans as the project architect represents a
significant moment in the history of the Phoenix Homesteads. Born in 1888 in
Chicago, Evans moved to the Salt River Valley in 1923 and almost
immediately opened his own business as an architect and contractor. Evans
Construction Company produced several famous resorts in the valley including
the Jokake Inn, Paradise Inn, and Casa Blanca. It also remodeled the Arizona

Biltmore and built the distinctive Eisendrath House.18

15 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 106-7; Wilson, "A New Land Use Program," p. 10-
11; U. S. Department of Labor, "Homesteads for Industrial Workers," p. 23.

16 Arizona Republic, 4 March 1934.

17 Details on the other Arizona projects were not as solid as those for Unit B,
and plans were not drawn.

18 Paul W. Pollock, Arizona’s Men of Achievement, Volume I (Phoenix, Arizona:
By the Author), p. 91.
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Today, the contributing houses of the first section of the Phoenix
Homesteads stand as excellent examples of both Evans' architectural intuition
and the pragmatic considerations which the DSH required of its homestead
residences. Equally important, the choice of quality craftsmen such as Evans
proves that the homesteads may have been experimental in name, but in
reality they were intended to be a lasting addition to a national program of
community building. Wilson truly wanted to provide something longer lasting
than a transitory experiment.

Division recommendations urged the use of native building materials
whenever possible, encouraged the placement of homes so they fit naturally
into the surrounding area, yet mandated that family dwellings would have
privacy, comfort, convenience, and attractiveness. A primary concern was "to
show that families can move from poverty-stricken and over-crowded shanties
and squalid tenements into decent modern homes where they may learn a new
happiness and achieve a new hope."19 Although it did not interfere with actual
on site operations, the architectural division of the DSH provided guidelines to
local architects.

Simplicity and economy were important. Homes would be cross
ventilated and well lighted. Living rooms would serve as the interior focal point
of the home; dining rooms, because of their minimal use, would be avoided; and
multipurpose-purpose rooms were considered a plus. There would be easy

access from bedrooms to the bathrooms. If possible, homes were to be

19 U. S. Department of Interior, Homestead Houses: A Collection of Plans and
Perspectives, Issued by the Division of Subsistence Homesteads, (Washington,
D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, nd), forward.



[image: image44.jpg]37
designed in such a way that they could be added to at a later date.20 A DSH

document elaborates:

It should be noted that these houses have been laid out
with the greatest care to obtain a maximum of space with
a proper relation of the various units to each other and to
the whole, and that the architectural merit of the design
depends not upon superficial ornamentation and decoration
but upon the proportion of one mass to another, the
relation of roof to walls, the placing of doors and window
openings, the slope of the roof, etc. To enlarge one unit or
change its position, to add a room, to change the slopes of
the roof, to add a window or take any changes whatever in
either plan or elevation might spoil the unity of the plan or
the esthetic value of the design.21

While DSH requirements seemed overly strict to some, the division
tempered criticism by allowing field agents to interpret the guidelines so as,
"not to discourage local and regional needs and traditions."22 That suited
Evans, who looked first to family needs, but also wished to design attractive,
functional buildings with a Southwestern motif.23

Combining his own artistic creativity with the division's requirements,
Evans devised graceful, adobe-styled buildings, with Pueblo Revival influences.
His homes contained as few openings as possible, a concession to the desert

heat and long hours of sunlight in Phoenix. Wide verandahs favored the coolest

20 USDI, Collection of Plans, p. I-IL
211hid. , p. IL
221bid., p. L

23 U. 8. Department of Labor, "Subsistence Homesteads for Industrial
Workers," p. 23.
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side of the house. To compliment the adobe style structures Evans used tile or
slabstone to cover the flat or low pitched roofs.24

Fuller appreciated Evans' designs and he happily submitted them to
Washington, D. C. for official approval. This completed Fuller's preliminary
work, endless hours of research, consultation and preparation. Not
unexpectedly, on May 1, 1934, DSH officials authorized $500,000 for three
hundred homesteads on Units I and II in the Salt River Valley and Unit III in
Tucson.25 In Fuller's proud moment of accomplishment he could not foresee
that bureaucratic obstructions back in Washington were about to delay the
actual construction on the approved projects. The fact that the Rural Homes
In Arizona, Unit B, had been approved at all was as unexpected in Washington,

D. C. as it had been expected in Phoenix.

Beginning in January, 1934 the entire DSH came under increasing fire
from critics who did not share Wilson's vision of a new America. Among others,
Wilson had to contend with the personal disfavor of Secretary of the Interior
Harold L. Ickes. Privately disappointed with the DSH, Ickes confided to his
diary: "This administration has been in a bad way. . . . Wilson is not a good
executive and under him Subsistence Homesteads got off to a very bad start."

Holding that thought, he lamented, "I told the President that this was the only

24 USDI, Collection of Plans, pp. 63-4. See Appendix B.

25 U, S. Department of Labor, "Subsistence Homesteads for Industrial
Workers," p. 23; U. S. Department of the Interior, Report of the Secretary of
the Interior, 1934, (Washington, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1935) , p.
343.
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phase of my administration that I felt apologetic for."26 Ickes probably did not
mistrust Wilson personally so much as he feared his decentralized system. He
preferred a strong federal presence in all New Deal projects, a necessary
interference that, in his opinion, ensured that everything ran smoothly.

Some commentators balked at the high price tag for DSH projects,
holding Wilson personally accountable. Ickes had envisioned individual
homestead units costing between $2,000-3,000.27 Each unit, he decreed,
should be as inexpensive as possible in order to gain public acceptance.
Unfortunately, that had not been the case in the second homestead project
entered into the DSH accounting books, the one located at Arthurdale, West
Virginia. Each house in Arthurdale cost about $10,000, a princely sum in the
1930s. To Ickes' chagrin, the Arthurdale failure not only wasted money, it also
earned itself a regrettable amount of negative newspaper coverage. Senator
Thomas D. Schall of Minnesota labeled Arthurdale a "Communist project28
Others faulted the division for an archaic accounting system that, they said,
did not present an accurate picture of destructive cost overruns. Among the
most unfair comments came from outsiders who decided that DSH projects
simply progressed too slowly. Field representatives shared the blame in the
estimation of some faultfinders because they had too much latitude in decision-

making.

26 Harold Ickes, The Secret Diary of Harold L. Ickes (New York: Simon and
Shuster, 1953) , pp. 218-19.

27 Ibid. , pp. 218-19. Ickes expected "justified" criticism of the program. He
was not upset when the DSH was removed from the Department of the
Interior.

28 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 118.
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Adding to these fiscal problems, other questions revolved around the
legality, to say nothing of the wisdom, of the government's involvement in
relocating factories to sites near chosen homesteads. Numerous additional
legal questions surfaced: can the federal government purchase real property
outright for the use of private citizens? can it award contracts? can it loan
money to non-profit corporations? Among the most debatable issues was
whether or not local governments could collect property tax on federally
sponsored homesteads. And what of insurance on the homes? Who would pay
the premiums; who would receive the pay-outs?29

Using Arthurdale, West Virginia as his trump card and best example,
Ickes gained the ear of President Roosevelt and successfully persuaded him
that Wilson's DSH required immediate restructuring. Wilson realized his
vulnerability too late. The complete collapse of the entire DSH, he feared, was
imminent. As major restructuring took place in the highest echelons of the
DSH, at the very least, Wilson's decentralized organization would have to go.

The first step toward completely federalizing the division came in

January, 1934, when the President issued an executive order stating that all
subsidiary corporations, including the Rural Homes In Arizona, would have to

conform their accounting procedures to the standards of the Comptroller

2929 U.S. Department of the Interior, Report of the Secretary of the Interior,
1934 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1934) , p. 350. For
and in-depth look at the legal problems associated with the DSH see Philip M.
Glick, "The Federal Subsistence Homesteads Program," Yale Law Review
XLIV (October 1935), and Bruce L. Melvin, "Emergency and Permanent
Legislation With Special Reference to the History of Subsistence
Homesteads," American Sociological Review, I (August 1936) : 622-31.
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General.30 Although this may seem like a modest, even harmless, reform, it
had significant ramifications. The change meant everyone associated with the
DSH, from top management in Washington, D. C. to the treasurer of a
homestead association in semi-rural locations, needed to learn and follow a new
set of accounting procedures. This proved just the beginning.

In March, the DSH revitalized itself by creating three new sections:
Planning, Construction, and Community Management.3! And on April 13,
1934, the Secretary of the Interior terminated the directive under which each
of the projects formed local entities subordinate to the Federal Subsistence
Homestead Corporation. Henceforth, all homestead projects would be
operated directly under the provisions of its enabling legislation as a federal
agency.

Interestingly, it was at this juncture that P. V. Fuller submitted the
fruits of his field work on Unit B to DSH headquarters for approval. Incredibly,
the agency halted its reorganizational impulse long enough to approve the

Arizona plan.

Eventually, the multitude of problems revolving around the accounting
procedures and the decentralizing tendencies of the DSH led to Wilson's
resignation. He had a image about how his program could best be run, but

when Ickes threatened to dismantle the entire mode of operation, Wilson saw

30 Sidney Baldwin, Poverty and Politics: The Rise and Decline of the Farm
Security Administration (Chapel Hill, North Carolina: The University of North
Carolina Press, 1968), p. 73.

31 USDI, Report of the Secretary of the Interior, 1934, p. 346.
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no purpose in continuing. In June of 1934, Wilson returned to the Department
of Agriculture, remanding the DSH to a subordinate until Ickes could name a
successor. Thus the first year of the DSH passed into history and with it, its
much maligned first director.

Perhaps Wilson had more grandiose plans than the government would
allow, or perhaps there were simply too many problems inherently associated
with an undertaking such as the New Deal's subsistence homestead program.
As we shall see, Wilson's departure from DSH did not solve the persistent
difficulties plaguing the agency.

When Wilson surrendered the DSH, some thirty-one homestead projects
were announced and on the books. But only nine projects had permanent
residents and ultimately only twenty-three of the thirty-one were ever built.
Still, the projects that did reach maturity conformed more closely to the true
definition of a subsistence homestead than any past or future attempts by all
other government agencies combined.

The following is a list of the subsistence homestead projects which were
built and/or initiated under the DSH:

e Five projects located around Jasper and Birmingham, Alabama (Cahaba,
Bankhead Farms, Greenwood Homesteads, Mount Olive Homesteads, and
Palmerdale Homesteads).

¢ Five homestead communities established in Texas (Houston Gardens,
Beauzart Gardens, Wichita Gardens, Three Rivers Gardens, and
Dalworthington Gardens).

e Four homestead projects developed in Mississippi (Tupelo, McComb,
Hattiesburg, and Magnolia Homesteads).
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* Two homesteads in the vicinity of Los Angeles (E1 Monte and San Fernando
Homesteads); and two in Minnesota (Duluth Homesteads and Austin
Homesteads).
® One homestead community at Phoenix, one in Washington State, (Longview
Homesteads); one in Illinois, (Lake County Homesteads); one in Indiana,
(Decatur Homesteads); and one in Iowa, (Granger Homesteads).32

Plans for additional homestead projects in Colorado and Montana
existed,‘but they never got off the drawing board. For some reason officials in
Washington, D. C. did not consider the Far West fertile ground for DSH
projects.33 In addition to the Arizona project, only Longview, Washington and
El Monte and San Fernando in southern California received DSH communities
in the Far West.34

For a full year, between June 1934 and May 1935, construction
continued apace on various homestead projects around the country. The
federalized nature of the program now generated a complacent, bureaucratic
slowness unknown in Wilson's tenure as director. Even choosing qualified
residents became tedious. As Paul Conkin observed, "The federalization order
often occasioned an extensive delay, either to revise project plans or to get the

new administrative machinery working."35 According to Bruce L. Melvin,

32 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 111.

33 Plans existed for two projects, one each in Colorado and Montana. U. S.
Department of Labor, "Subsistence Homesteads for Industrial Workers," p.
23.

34 USDI, Annual Report of the Secretary of the Interior, 1934; and Conkin,
Tomorrow, p. 112. Depending on the way a person defines the West there
may have been others. There was one project in Tulsa, Oklahoma and seven in
Texas.

35 Ibid. , p. 125.
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former Chief of Research Section, DSH, "The decision left everything, even the
most trivial details like the purchase of sandpaper, to be decided in the
Washington office."36

While criticism and problems plagued the DSH during the course of its
lifetime, Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, stands as a proud example—maybe
the best example— of what the division's work could accomplish. The Rural
Homes In Arizona continued to function, even prosper, throughout 1934.
Nevertheless, all the negative criticism and constant sniping affected the
Phoenix project. Just when it seemed that construction might begin, work in
Phoenix slowed to a virtual standstill when Charles E. Pynchon took over the
reigns of the newly reorganized DSH. The change in management and direction
at the division temporarily halted progress at Units I and B of the Phoenix
projects.

Although the organizational structure and efficiency of the DSH
changed with the departure of Wilson, the goals and standards did not. Most of
the specifics which Wilson had established for successful homesteads remained
the basis for the project. In Phoenix, P. V. Fuller continued to serve as the
federally appointed project manager, making certain that those guidelines were

followed.

By the end of June 1934, the federal government had spent a mere
$4,118.44 on the Rural Homes In Arizona. For that amount, Fuller had

purchased options to buy two tracts of land and the DSH paid Evans to design

36 Melvin, "Emergency and Permanent Legislation," p. 627.
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suitable homes.37 On November 7, the Phoenix project kicked into a higher
gear when the Federal Subsistence Homestead Corporation exercised one of
the land purchase options and paid the First National Bank of Arizona
$15,319.65 for 74.73 acres.38 Shortly thereafter, the government purchased a
second tract of land, an additional fifty-seven acres located at Christy Road
and Lateral 16 known as the Glassford Tract, enough space for twenty-four
homesteads, at the rate of $205 dollars per acre.3? Within the next month,
the division accepted the plans for construction and building was ready to
begin.

In accepting the construction plans for the Phoenix sites, an important
decision was made. The DSH determined that each homestead at Unit B
would be valued at $2,500. Inasmuch as an income between $600-1,200 per
year was an attainable figure for many Arizonans, they set a yearly payment
rate for holders of the Phoenix homesteads at $126.47. As per the division's
goal, home ownership could be made possible for average Americans unable to
secure loans from private sources but still capable of meeting payment

schedules.40 Wilson's original description of the homestead program continued

37 USDI, Report of the Secretary of the Interior 1934, pp. 342, 350.

38 Baldwin to Appleby, May 19, 1937, RG 96, Box 86; U.S. Senate,
Congressional Record, 74th Cong., 2nd sess., 1936, Document no. 213,
Rexford Guy Tugwell, Report on the Objectives, Accomplishments, and Effects
of The Resettlement Administration Program, p. 38. $15,320 is given as the
price for the acreage.

39 Baldwin to Appleby, May 19, 1937 ; P. V. Fuller to C. E. Moody, September
26, 1935; and Rural Resettlement Division, Project Cost and Budget Estimate,
April 30, 1936, RG 96, Box 86.

40 Arizona Republic, 23 December 1934.



[image: image53.jpg]46
to be quoted at DSH long after his removal: "It's a middle-class movement for
selected people, not the top, not the dregs."41

"Work On Subsistence Homesteads Proceeds Rapidly," boasted the
headline in the May 5th Arizona Republic as it announced that Phoenix
contractor P. W. Womack's low bid of $51,000 to construct twenty-five homes
on Unit B had been accepted.42 The actual construction began on March 5
and Womack predicted a completion date sometime around the end of July.43
He laid concrete foundation slabs, brought in electricity, and in the northwest
corner of the lot, established an adobe brick making plant, with the production
capability of 2,000 bricks per day.44 Then on March 11, the FSHC completed
its paperwork, setting aside some 20.6309 acres of land for homes; the
remaining fifty-three acres to be used for gardens and common pasture
fields.45

In the weeks that followed, an ambitious labor force recruited by the

federal-state employment service laid adobe bricks and set tile roofs according

41 M. L. Wilson, quoted in Russell Lord, "The Rebirth of Rural Life," Survey
Graphic, December 1941, p. 691.

42 Arizona Republic, 5 May 1935.
43 Arizona Republic, 3 March 1935.

44 Interview with Jack Mott, Original Resident, Phoenix, Arizona, 22
February 1993.

45 Audit Report, Phoenix Homestead Association, Near Phoenix, Arizona,
August 1, 1936 to October 31, 1937, pp. 6-7, RG 96, Box 12; Maricopa
County, Book of Deeds, Book 289, pp. 317-318. The first homes were located
on lots measuring between .8301 to .7775 acres, an amount slightly smaller
than the program average, between one and three acres. U. S. Department of
Labor, "Homesteads for Industrial Workers," p. 25; Baldwin to Appleby, May
19, 1937, RG 96, Box 86
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to Evan's blueprints. Field Manager P. V. Fuller estimated that the men's
wages alone propelled an immediate $30,000 into the local economy, a
significant amount in a thinly-populated state such as Arizona.46 Under
optimal circumstances, the residents of the homestead would have contributed
to the construction effort with their own labor, but in the case of the Rural
Homes In Arizona, Unit B, this was impossible because, as yet, the selection

process for families had not yet begun.47

With construction moving along rapidly, Fuller's main task was to
choose settlers for the homesteads. From its inception, family selection stood
as one of the principal concerns of the division.48 Wilson elaborated on this
aspect a number of times, but even after his departure, the DSH treated the
selection process seriously. "Families selected for participation in such
projects is of equal, if not greater, importance than the selection of the land to
be farmed," proclaimed a government publication.49

Unsure of exactly how to proceed, the DSH simply took out local

newspaper ads announcing the availability of subsistence homesteads.

46 Arizona Republic, 5 May 1935.

47y.8. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Industrial and
Rural Workers on FSA Homesteads," Monthly Labor Review, LIV (February
1942) : 364.

48 Wilson, "New Land Use Program,” p. 11; Idem, "The Place for Subsistence
Homesteads," p. 82; Idem, "Decentralization of Industry,” p. 596.

49 U.S. Department of Agriculture, John B. Holt, An Analysis of Methods and
Criteria Used In Selecting Families for Colonization Projects (Washington, D.C.:
U.S. Government Printing Office, 1937), p. i.
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Prospective homesteaders were urged to get in touch with the local DSH office.
After that, friends and neighbors spread the good news by word of mouth.50

Because individuals chosen for the homesteads were expected to be
part-time farmers, and because the federal government was loaning them a
rather substantial sum of money, they were expected to demonstrate an
aptitude to meet challenges. Character, need, adaptability, and the ability to
ultimately pay for their homes were primary factors in the family selection
process.51

A long list of "musts" needed to be satisfied before a homesteader could
expect to be chosen:
e The potential homesteaders were required to be a U. S. citizen, reside in an
industrial area or its general vicinity, display a good employment record, be
physically fit, and demonstrate some previous farming experience. They
needed to have children, or at the very least they should show the intention to
have children in the future. Anyone over forty-five years of age had to have
children of such an age as to perform farm work.
e Potential homesteaders could not possess an annual income of less than
$1,200. They could have no large debts, yet they could not hold savings or
property of such an amount that they could obtain home financing from a
private source.
e Last but not least, "the wife must be willing to live on a subsistence

homestead and understand the problems associated with a semi-rural life."52

50 Interview with Jack Mott, 22 February 1993.

51 USDI, General Information, p. 11.

52 USDI, A Homestead and Hope, pp. 15-16; Wilson's experience showed that
the wife held considerable weight in the decision to leave projects. He found, "in
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To aid in the selection process the division fashioned a standard
application form to be filled out in duplicate by prospective homesteaders. The
application was designed to ask precisely those questions that would elicit the
type of information which had already been deemed as necessary qualifications
for homesteaders.

The following types of questions appeared on the application for
candidates to the Phoenix homesteads: educational background of each family
member; race; nationality; financial data; amount in savings and checking
account; name of bank; securities; real estate holdings; personal property,
including furniture, automobile, etc.; life insurance policy; pensions, and
annuities; liabilities such as mortgages and debts; farming and handicraft
experience; whether or not the person had been reared on a farm and age when
he or she left the farm; experience keeping poultry or raising cattle; handicraft
experience or desire to learn; the husband and wife's community affiliations;
occupations for the past fifteen years; present employer; present living
conditions; home ownership; type of dwelling, amount of rent, number of rooms,
and whether it had water, electricity and gas. Six lines were left open for the
applicant to write his and her reasons for desiring a subsistence homestead.

Each applicant also submitted two character references.?3 In a marvel of

one Sieldlung [part-time farm project] in Germany it has been estimated, that
in approximately 90% of the cases, the family's inability to adjust themselves
to the new way of life was attributable to the wife." Wilson, "A New Land Use
Program,” p. 11; The criteria generally selected for the homesteaders were
not new. Similar criteria are listed for the potential success of most communal
settlements. Holt, An Analysis, pp. 4-5; U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau
of Labor Statistics, "Industrial and Rural Workers on FSA Homesteads," pp.
361-62.

53 Division of Subsistence Homesteads, Application for Subsistence
Homestead, RG 96, Box 25.
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understatement, the DSH announced in its first bulletin a determination "to
overlook nothing which will help guarantee the selection of homesteaders."54

Altogether, 707 families declared their intentions for the first twenty-
five homes available at the Phoenix project.55 This demand was not unusually
high, for all over the country the appeal for homesteads far outweighed the
number available. In California, for example, during the spring of 1935, some
eighteen hundred families submitted applications for 140 homesteads.56

Completed applications went to Fuller and he, with assistance from the
Community Development Section of the DSH, reviewed them. Helen Baxter
assisted Fuller in evaluating the applications for both Phoenix locations, and
later, the El Monte and San Fernando homesteads in California. After the
removal of M. L. Wilson, the DSH in Washington D. C. had no particular
interest in allowing the field offices any more authority than was absolutely
necessary, but in the case of the selection process even high officials had to
acknowledge that Fuller and Baxter did a good job of screening candidates. In
one report, the DSH admitted that "the E1 Monte, San Fernando, and Phoenix
projects seem to be going along very successfully. We feel that no small
measure of their success is due to the very careful and competent job of family

selection that was done on these three projects."57 Helen Baxter's

54 USDI, A Homestead and Hope, p. 16.

55 74th Cong., 2nd sess., 1936, Rexford Guy Tugwell, Report on the
Resettlement Administration Program, p. 47.

56 Phoenix Gazette, 11 May 1935. Ultimately, 2,000 acceptable applications
for the California homesteads were received. This represents the largest
discrepancy between availability and application. U. S. Department of Labor,
"Homesteads Industrial Workers," p. 26.

57 Comments on October Report from Region Nine, November 9, 1936, RG
96, Box 26. In actuality the final family selection would have taken place
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contributions, in fact, earned her the honor of having the second phase of the
Phoenix Homesteads, the Baxter Tract, named as a tribute to her.58

Eligible applicants who made it through the first cut endured a personal
investigation in which references were checked. If everything proved correct, a
personal interview concluded the process.?9 Final selections remained in the
hands of Washington officialdom, but they ordinarily followed the

recommendations of the field offices.

In the spring of 1935, all of the problems which had been plaguing the
DSH came to a head. As it turned out, neither director, Wilson nor Pynchon,
could satisfy Secretary Ickes. Of the second director, Ickes damned him with
the terse comment, "Pynchon has been a distinct disappointment."60 In fact,
Ickes considered the entire DSH the only flaw during his tenure in Roosevelt's
cabinet, and in anticipation of the prospect that he might soon be relieved of

the division, he jubilantly noted, "I won't be at all put out if I lose Subsistence

under the auspices of the Resettlement Administration. However, the
Resettlement Administration's standards and ideals for family selection were
very similar to those of the DSH. While the DSH initiated the process on the
Phoenix Homesteads, the Resettlement Administration most certainly would
have followed the procedures already undertaken. U.S. Resettlement
Administration, First Annual Report of the Resettlement Administration
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1936), p. 64.

58 Comments on October Report from Region Nine, November 9, 1936, RG
96, Box 26; Interview with Jack Mott, 22 February 1993.

59 Holt, An Analysis, p. 39.

60 Ickes, Secret Diaries, p. 218.
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Homesteads. It has been nothing but a headache from the beginning."61
Wilson stated from the outset that the work of the DSH was experimental.
Ickes considered it a failed experiment, a sentiment which author Sydney
Baldwin encapsulated in the stinging statement: "The Subsistence
Homesteads Division was little more than an esoteric experiment."62 Rex
Tugwell, another presidential insider, and ironically the person who inherited
the division's homestead responsibilities, dismissed the subsistence homestead
projects by defining them as "a utopian notion out of the past."63

Not everyone agreed with Ickes' assessments. In spite of its negative
connotation, there were many people in Congress and throughout the country
who counted themselves as proponents of the division. Many argued that the
experiment had never been given a full opportunity to work. Born of a poorly
written law, there may have been nothing inherently wrong with the concept of
subsistence homesteads. Partly because it never had a properly defined role in
New Deal mission and goals, it just seemed to attract controversy.64

The DSH was on its way out, but not without a fight. In perhaps the
most energetic effort to save the floundering program, on March 6, 1935,
Representative Hampton P. Fulmer of South Carolina introduced a detailed bill

in the House which he felt would remedy or reform the defects of the division by

611bid., p. 227.
62 Baldwin, Poverty and Politics, p. 84.
63 Tugwell, Democratic Roosevelt, p. 158.

64 Melvin, "Emergency and Permanent Legislation," p. 631; Harold M. Ware,
and Webster Powell, "Planning for Permanent Poverty: What Subsistence
Farming Really Stands For," Harper's Magazine, April 1935, pp. 516-519;
Leonard A. Salter Jr., "Research and Subsistence Homesteads," Rural
Sociology II #2 (June 1937) : 210.
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clearing up the suspect legal questions impeding its advancement. His
proposal received little more than a first reading in Congress.65

In retrospect, it is not difficult to understand the lack of Congressional
enthusiasm for the DSH. While excuses could have been made for the
vagueness of the legislation under which it had been passed into law, it might
be more difficult to overlook the pure inefficiency of the division. Of the $25
million allotted to it, the DSH spent only $8 million. Somewhere between 6,000
and 7,000 homes should have been constructed, but only 1,500 were actually
completed and contracts existed for only 2,500 more.

In defense of the division, it could be noted that for only one third of its
budget, the DSH had built, or had contracts on, approximately half of its goal.
But the middle years of the 1930s were not "waiting" years or years of
economic budget paring, they were years of emergency relief, creative work
projects and rehabilitation. The DSH simply did not fit the mold for New Deal
programs, especially after it got tied up in its own rhetoric about the glories of
the back-to-the-land movement and decentralizing from the Washington

scene.66

In April, 1935, Congress merged the DSH, the Federal Emergency Relief
Administration, and the Agricultural Adjustment Administration into the RA.
At the time, the other two agencies were operating programs similar to those

of the DSH. The FERA's Division of Rural Rehabilitation and Land Program

65 U.S. Senate, Congressional Record, 74th Cong., 1st. sess., 1935, p. 3066.

66 Melvin, "Emergency and Permanent Legislation. p. 623.



[image: image61.jpg]54
and the Agricultural Adjustment Administration's Land Policy Section
functioned similarly to the DSH.67 In Arizona, for example, the Federal
Emergency Relief Administration managed a number of homestead-type
projects, including one for forty-five families on a 160 acre site.68 Fortunately,
this meant combining the Division's obligations with the FERA's would not be
exceedingly difficult.

On April 30, by Executive Order No. 7027, President Roosevelt created
the RA "in order to work out harmonious plans for dealing with our
fundamental rural problems."” Its mission was to point "the way to a better
type of home in better surroundings at less cost."89 The DSH officially
disbanded in May, 1935.

Although part of the RA's goals were similar to the DSH, the focus was
far removed from industrial aims and directed itself primarily at rural farming
issues. The RA saw itself as a relief agency with numerous capabilities. "The
work of the Resettlement Administration is a rebuilding of that which was
unwisely destroyed for decades," it declared in its first report, "our land and the
life it produces."70 In order to accomplish this formidable task, the RA opened
four separate divisions:

(1) The Division of Land Utilization. This division replaced earlier efforts by
both the Agricultural Adjustment Administration and the Federal Emergency

67 U. S. Department of Labor, "Homesteads Industrial Workers," pp. 34-7.
The Resettlement Administration followed more closely to the work which the
FERA had undertaken.

68 ER.A. of Arizona, Department of Rural Rehabilitation, RG 96, Box 86.
69 USRA, First Annual Report, p. 1.

70 Ibid. , p. 5.
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Relief Administration to remove some ten million acres of sub-marginal or
substandard land out of crop production. Some farmers are poor, officials in
the RA reasoned, " because the land on which they live cannot under any
circumstances be made to yield a living."71
(2) The Division of Rural Resettlement. This division took over the projects
begun by the DSH and the Division of Rural Rehabilitation of the Federal
Emergency Relief Administration. Its goal was to relocate eligible farmers
from sub-marginal land to new farms. In 1929, more than 915,000 farmers in
the United States had gross incomes of less than $400 and the incomes of over
3.5 million sharecroppers and tenant farmers was even smaller. The Rural
Resettlement program set out to remedy this situation.?2
(3) The Division of Rural Rehabilitation. This agency made small, emergency,
loans to farmers. It replaced the work of the Federal Emergency Relief
Administration.
(4) The Division of Suburban Resettlement (DSR). Addressing a new aspect of
relief, this division built four so-called "Greenbelt communities" for low income
city workers and suburban farmers: Greenbelt, Maryland; Greenhills, Ohio;

Greendale, Wisconsin; and Greenbrook, New Jersey.73 It also accepted

T11pid. , p. 2.
72 1bid. , p. 33.

73 These projects, on the periphery of cities, were to be complete communities
rather than small groupings of dwellings. Each community would house at
least 750 families and provide its own stores, post office, community center,
schools, park, and playground. Encircling the residential section would be the
outlying "greenbelt" from which the project took its name. USRA, First
Annual Report, p. 4.
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responsibility for the completion of nineteen projects begun by the Federal
Emergency Relief Administration or DSH.

Of these four divisions , only the last one, the Division of Suburban
Resettlement, really affected the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B. It was the
DSR which assumed responsibility for the only twenty-five percent complete
Phoenix homesteads.”¢ The other two Arizona projects still under
consideration did not make the cut. Both of them, Unit I and Unit III, in
Tucson, were abandoned at this time. Interestingly, the other three DSH
homesteads in the West— Longview, San Fernando, and E1 Monte— likewise
were taken over by the Division of Suburban Resettlement.?5

Executive Order No. 7041 authorized the transfer of all property
managed by the DSH to the RA. The RA then organized a group of experts
from the Division of Suburban Resettlement to study all projects which had
previously been approved for the DSH by the Secretary of the Interior. A
month later, on June 15, the President allocated $7 million to complete thirty-
two of those projects. Several months later three more rural resettlement

projects, costing an estimated $1,484,307, received additional approval.76

74 Unit B of the Phoenix homesteads was estimated to cost $107,585, of which
$37,490 still needed to be appropriated. Ibid., p. 154.

75 Ibid., p. 49. The Tucson project under consideration by the Rural Homes
In Arizona met its demise at this time.

76 U.S. Resettlement Administration, The Program of the Resettlement,
Administration (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, July
1936), p. 4.
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Very little actually changed at the Phoenix site when the operations of
the DSH were transferred to the RA. Paul Fuller remained the project
manager and the original plans for the community continued without
interruption. The most noticeable effect was that construction work at the
homesteads slowed to a virtual standstill during the actual transfer process.
After that, work progressed through the hot summer months and on
September 7, 1935, Fuller confirmed the completion of the first twenty-five
homes.??

Reminiscent of New England commons, Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit
B, maintained a fifty acre community grazing pasture. Some streets still
needed to be graded and the irrigation system for the farms required
installation, but otherwise the small community looked complete. Twenty
residences boasted two bedrooms; only five contained a single bedroom. In
addition, each homestead included a chicken house and a shed that doubled as
a garage and/or washing room. One homesteader, demonstrating the
industriousness which the division had sought in residents, converted his shed
into a bedroom for his two boys while the girls shared the extra bedroom inside
the house.”8

Some discrepancy surrounds the exact final cost of the project since
different reports give different estimates. However, from available figures it

appears that the cost for the first twenty-five homes was between $117,000

77 Phoenix Gazette, 7 September 1935.
78 Interview with Jack Mott, 22 February 1993.
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and $126,000.79 Applications for the homesteads were still being filed when
the DSH transferred all of it's projects to the RA's Management Division.80

Because of an unfortunate misunderstanding, some people initially got
the erroneous impression that the Phoenix homesteads were a charity. "It is
nothing of the sort,” Fuller fumed.8! Still, not even the carping of a few cranks
could spoil the excitement of moving into a new house and a crisp, new
community. Thus, as the finishing touches were completed, eager
homesteaders came forward.

During the first week of October, eight families made the trek to the new
homesteads, followed immediately by ten others who had been obliged to wait
for final approval on their applications. While the actual costs of the houses
were yet to be fully calculated, each resident began by paying $13.45, $13.50,
or $13.90 per month, depending on the estimated value of the home. The new
residents were so pleased with their homes that the bulk of new applications
came from friends and acquaintances of the first settlers.82

One can almost feel the excitement, the pioneer anticipation, of those

first homesteaders. Walking the streets of a pristine neighborhood, they must

79 USRA, The Program of the Resettlement Administration, p. 4; Baldwin to
Appleby, May 19, 1937, RG 96, Box 86; 74th Cong., 2nd sess., 1936, Rexford
Guy Tugwell, Report on the Resettlement Administration Program, p. 38.
The total estimated cost is listed at $107,585.

80 Phoenix Gazette, 7 September 1935.

81 Arizona Republic, 6 October 1935.

82 Thid.
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have felt like the chosen few. Of course, if the newness of it all did not make
them feel special, having passed through the government's rigorous application
procedure probably did! The results were certainly worth the effort and the
wait. Under normal conditions, much less under depression conditions, the
very thought of owning a brand new home would have been nothing more than
a dream for most of the selected families.83

RA guidelines required the formation of a community association for the
purpose of conveying the property to a legal title. The Management and Legal
Division assumed this responsibility. First, homesteaders signed sales
contracts and took possession of their homes and gardens; meanwhile, the title
to the property belonged to the homesteader's association. Second, the
association supplied the deed of trust to the federal government as security for
individual home loans. A yearly interest rate of three percent was collected.
Finally, after a period, not to exceed forty years, the homesteader acquired title
in fee simple to the home and property.84 On July 30, 1936, the residents of
the Phoenix project formally enjoined the Phoenix Homesteads Association, a
non-stock corporation organized to:

participate in the establishment, maintenance and
development of a community at Phoenix Homesteads . . . for
the mutual benefit of the members of such community; to
engage in activities designed to rehabilitate such members
and make them self supporting; and to do and perform all

acts and things necessary, convenient, useful or incidental to
the accomplishment of such purpose.85

83 Interview with Jack Mott, 22 February 1993.
84 USRA, First Annual Report, p. 66.

85 Audit Report, Phoenix Homestead Association, Near Phoenix, Arizona,
August 1, 1936 to October 31, 1937, p. 6, RG 96, Box 12.
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The association issued purchase contracts to individual homesteaders,
chose settlers, collected all fees, and made the necessary payments. The RA
based its sale figures on three factors: the ability of the homesteader to pay, a
reasonable appraisal of the project, and the original cost to the government.
Sale of homesteads was not to exceed twenty-five percent of the settlers
income, the appraisal value, or the original cost. Before the homestead
association accepted title to the property, it signed a management contract
with the RA, giving them and/or their successor the authority to supervise the
management until the properties were paid off.86 The new Phoenix
Homesteads were considered one of the most successful projects undertaken
by the DSH.

The government conveyed the property to the association in lieu of
$89,150. L.C. Goldsmith, served as the association manager, collecting rent
from the homesteaders and keeping the books, a responsibility for which he
received $25 per month.87 On August 8th, providing they had kept up the
property, planted gardens and shown a co-operative spirit, the residents

received sales contracts for their homes. Mrs. Helen Baxter, now an important

86 Conkin, Tomorrow, pp. 215-16: Baldwin to Appleby, May 19, 1937, RG 96,
Box 86

87 Audit Report, Phoenix Homestead Association, Near Phoenix, Arizona,
August 1, 1936 to October 31, 1937, p. 8, RG 96, Box 12; U.S. Senate,
Congressional Record, 78th Cong., 1st sess., 1943-44, Select Committee of the
House Committee on Agriculture, Hearings on the Farm Security
Administration, p. 1118; 74th Cong., 2nd sess., 1936, Rexford Guy Tugwell,
Report on the Resettlement Administration Program, p. 47. This amount
represents approximately 97% of the governments total investment in the
Phoenix Homesteads. The total cost for the developed units equaled
$92,184.79. The average cost per house stood at $3,687.39, while the average
selling price was only $3,566.
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member of the RA team, served as the Phoenix Homesteads' secretary and
- helped deliver the contracts to the residents.88
By January 22, 1936, all twenty-five homes on the first Phoenix site had
been occupied. At last the community settled down, quickly finding a pace and
routine that made it not unlike rural neighborhoods all across the country.
County agents offered adult education courses and an extension service,
— providing recipes and teaching classes on, among other things, how to budget
money.89 The residents quickly formed a garden club, El Pueblocito, and noted
with approval improvements in the grounds and parkways. The news that
Twenty-Seventh Street would soon reach the homesteads, with its possibility
for a direct access to the closest schools for children, caused much joy.90
= Curiously, the government's flirtation with community building in
Phoenix had just begun, not ended. One would have thought that the
exhausting process required to bring twenty-five homesteads to the desert
would have been enough, but, in fact, the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B,
were just completed when the investigation began for a second project. This

one would be entirely under the direction of the RA.

88 Arizona Republic, 9 August 1936.
89 Interview with Jack Mott, 22 February 1993.

90 Excerpt from Monthly Report, Region IX, December, 1936, RG 96, Box 26.
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Building The Arizona Part-Time Farms, Baxter Tract,
Under the Guidance of the Resettlement Administration

Before the completion of the first Phoenix project, interest in a second
relief community was already gaining momentum. Prosperity seemed nowhere
in sight, and a weary public wondered if more assistance measures were not in
order. Perhaps additional resettlement communities would make a difference?

An August, 1935 letter from a Mr. W. W. White of Phoenix to Arizona
State Senator Henry F. Ashurst is typical of the growing interest in
perpetuating the government's homestead experiment in Arizona. Mr. White
offered to provide the names and addresses of willing participants, and he even
suggested which 5,700 acres in Maricopa County might be best suited to
another homestead project.! Ironically, such proposals from the general public
were seldom taken seriously, yet the RA demanded just this type of local
interest if it was going to continue in a region and Phoenix remained a prime
location for future rehabilitation efforts by the Roosevelt administration.

A number of enticements worked in Arizona's favor. First, the DSH and
FERA had already justified the state's need for rehabilitation efforts in lengthy
reports; they had scouted prospective locations, and had successfully located
the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, in the Salt River Valley.2 The RA
benefited from all this progress. Secondly, the RA inherited at least two large,

1 W.W. White to Senator Henry F. Ashurst, August 2, 1935 and December 14,
1935, Record Group 96, Box 86, Records of the Farmers Home Administration,
National Archives, Suitland, Maryland.

2 Recall the 45 family project plan for the ERA of Arizona, Payson Gregory had
been involved. Federal Emergency Relief Administration, Final Closure
Reports, FERA Projects, May 1, 1934 - October 26, 1935 (np, nd), p. 33.
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worthy parcels of Arizona land previously purchased by its predecessor
agencies: the fifty-seven acre plot located at Christy Road and Lateral 16
known as the Glassford Tract, and thirty-six expendable acres which remained
after the twenty-five homes comprising Unit B had been built. This property

soon came to be known as the Baxter Tract.

At least as early as December, 1935, tentative plans for an Arizona
project had progressed far enough to be written about in a RA report titled
Arizona: Notice of Suggestion Number Assignment.3 This report reviewed plans
for a proposed rural resettlement project in Maricopa County. Although at the
time the plans may have only been in the suggestion stage, ultimately they
became the genesis for the Arizona Part-Time Farms (RR-AZ-7) project.
Sparked by the report's candid evaluation of the advantages of another

Phoenix-area community, specifically a venture of over 500 acres and 100

3 Resettlement Administration, Arizona: Notice of Suggestion Number,
December 6-7, 1935, RG 96, Box 86. December 4 is given as the date for
preliminary approval for the project. Miscellaneous Information, RR-AZ-7,
RG 96. Some question surrounds which agency should be credited with the
initial idea for the Arizona Part-Time Farms project. Miscellaneous
Information, attributes the initiation to the DSH. U.S. Resettlement
Administration, The Program of the Resettlement, Administration (Washington,
D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, July 1936), p. 5, concurs. Paul
Conkin, Tomorrow A New World: The New Deal Community Program (Ithaca,
New York: Cornell University Press, 1959), p. 334, claims that the FERA
inaugurated the project. While it seems clear that the DSH can be credited
with the primary influence on the project, mainly because they owned most of
the land which became Arizona Part-Time Farms and had always intended on
creating a much larger system than only one community, the RA's project can
be looked upon as a collaboration. Certainly the research and studies which
the FERA had conducted were used by the RA. And, one cannot forget that
Payson Gregory worked for the FERA.
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families living in 3 separate communities, officials in the RA gave the go-ahead
for a closer look.

Once it decided to investigate an Arizona project, the RA wasted no
time. The first order of business was to give it a name: the Arizona Part-Time
Farms. Next, they borrowed a tactic from the DSH and hired a field
representative, authorizing him to look into the viability of a rural resettlement
experiment in the vicinity of Phoenix. Payson Gregory, a long-time valley
resident received the appointment.4 The RA considered Gregory an excellent
representative and worked confidently with the information he provided.5
There is no question but that Gregory knew the territory for he had once
worked as a land appraiser for the Farm Creditors Administration and after
that supervised FERA projects in Arizona.

Gregory set out in December of that year to check soil samples, conduct
hydrology tests, run surveys, and interview relevant parties. By January of
1936, he had identified nine separate tracts throughout the valley for
consideration.6 Three parcels in particular attracted his attention: Unit I, the
Glassford Tract, which had been purchased by the DSH for possible use in the

Rural Homes In Arizona enterprise and still remained unsettled; Unit II, the

4 FERA, Final Closure Reports, p. 33. Itis not clear what happened to P. V.
Fuller, who, after devoting so much time and energy to the Phoenix
Homesteads, moved on to other pursuits.

5 Statement Regarding Mr. Payson Gregory's Ability as a Soil Expert, from
the Regional Chief of Farm Labor Projects, RG 96, Box 87.

6 Unit I Glassford, Unit II Subsistence Homestead, Unit III First National
Land Indian School Road, Unit IV Foster Place, Unit V Chandler Townsite,
Unit VI Marshal Mortgage Co., Unit VII Marshall Waite Tract, Unit VIII
Jarnigan Tract, and Unit IX Van Marel Tract. Arizona Part-Time Farms,
Project Plans, RG 96, Box 87.
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excess thirty-six acres from the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B; and Unit I1I,
71.75 acres of land just north of the same property. Although the First
National Bank of Arizona owned this last noted piece of land, the federal
government held an option to purchase it.

In February, Gregory completed his final analysis of the nine tracts
under consideration, compiled the necessary information, and presented his
findings to Rexford Guy Tugwell, Director of the RA.7 The report offers an
important insight into the factors which the RA considered salient for the
implementation of one of its rural resettlement programs.

Because of the RA's commitment to agricultural resettlement, as
opposed to industrial resettlement, land quality considerations took top place
on Gregory's list of considerations. Under RA program guidelines, persons
eligible for resettlement included people or families who needed to be moved
from sub-marginal agricultural land onto fertile farm land, preferably on soil
which had previously been cultivated. In order to establish an acceptable
program, the government could neither promote the continued use of under
productive land, nor be responsible for developing new farm land to compete
with current farmers. With this in mind, all nine parcels identified by Gregory
consisted of tested, fruitful farm land, "the best that could be obtained in the
area." The Baxter Tract, for example, currently ready for irrigation, lush with
Bermuda grass and alfalfa, and having been used as a pasture for cattle, easily

qualified.8

7 Ibid.
8 Ihid.



[image: image73.jpg]66

In his analysis, Gregory also noted that the Salt River Valley contained
approximately 150,000 people, a good base for outside employment, especially
in regard to the tourist industry. Livestock management offered additional
possibilities. Cattle were raised in the near-by mountains and brought to the
valley to graze on barley and alfalfa fields before slaughter. Another "cash
crop” included sheep, especially during the winter when they brought an
unusually high price. Healthy dairy and poultry industries added to the area's
desirability. The climate allowed several growing seasons, and while the lack of
precipitation caused some worry, Gregory looked into the possibility of securing
water from either the City of Phoenix or through irrigation canals.9 It is
interesting to note that although most of these same conclusions had been
previously noted in DSH reports, the RA went about the process anew.

Attention also had to be given to the amenities which made the valley a
desirable, as well as a productive location. Abundant education, worship, and
entertainment opportunities stood as important factors in selecting a site. The
Maricopa County School Superintendent assured Gregory that adequate
school facilities could be found near any of his proposed projects. Further
research showed that an abundance of clubs, movies, parks, museums,
fairgrounds, and swimming facilities were easily accessible throughout the
area. The surrounding wilderness provided ample opportunity for hunting,
fishing, camping, and horseback riding. Special events were also prevalent,

another result of the valley's resort status.10

9 Ihid.

10 1piq.
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Under the DSH, subsistence gardening constituted the major
agricultural goal. The RA envisioned the residents of Arizona Part-Time
Farms not only providing a portion of their own subsistence, but also growing
products for sale to the public, thereby directly contributing to their own
incomes. This organizational scheme deviated considerably from how the DSH
had planned the Rural Homes In Arizona project and stands as reminder of the
two agencies' very different intentions.

Gregory's preparatory schemata foresaw each farmstead encircled by
five acres of land, a considerably larger piece of property than the three-
quarters of an acre for each of the Rural Homes In Arizona homesteads. Each
homesteader's residence would be built on a single acre of land, but the land
could also have room for fruits, vegetables, and berries for personal
consumption or outside sale. The remaining four acres would be grouped
together and worked collectively for cash crops such as cotton and alfalfa. The
anticipated individual dividend from these farming operations was estimated at
$99.40 per year: $30 from the sale of fruits and vegetables from the individual
farms; $39.40 realized from two acres of cotton; and $30 from two acres of
alfalfa. One person would be needed to work full time on the farm for each
forty-eight acres of land, thus leaving the majority of residents to secure
outside employment.11

The preliminary design which Gregory delivered to Washington, D. C.
impressed the RA officials, who saw the sense in locating another government
project in Arizona. The initial enthusiasm guaranteed further investigation

and studies by the Planning Section. On March 10, 1936, the Economic and

11 1hid.
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Social Sections recommended that the entire Arizona Part-Time Farms project
be approved for immediate construction. The only reservation concerned the
proposed five acres of land per homestead. Fearing that this amount of land
would place the homesteaders in direct competition with local farmers, the
Economic and Social Section suggested that further thought be given to the
exact organization of the farming operations.12

As the hot summer months drenched the valley in sunshine and triple-
digit temperatures, the RA continuously revised and updated plans for the
Arizona Part-Time Farms. The final decision summed up the project as
embodying three separate communities housing a total of one hundred families:
the Chandler Tract, the Glendale Tract, and the Baxter Tract. A fourth
possibility, the Glassford Tract, might provide eleven homes.13 Later, upon
reconsideration, the determination came down that the Glassford Tract land
could best be used as farm land shared between the Glendale and Baxter
tracts.14 Oddly, at one time or another the Glassford Tract had been
considered by both the FERA and the DSH for an adobe making and/or
homestead location, but neither assignment ever materialized.

Because the government already owned it, the Baxter Tract received

attention first. Where to begin? Of course, at some point family income needs

12 E. R. Henson, Chief Economic and Social Section to J. H. J enkins,
Assistant Director Economic and Social Section, March 10, 1936, RG 96, Box
88.

13 Rural Resettlement Project Cost and Budget Estimate for Tract Number 1
and Report on Schools, Health, and Community Activities for Unit I, RG 96,
Box 89.

14 Rural Resettlement Division, Project Cost and Budget Estimate, RR-AZ-7,
Tract Number 1, February 1936, RG 96, Box 87.
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and the management of the farming operations would require attention. But
the kind of homes built on the tract stood as the first priority needing attention.
Fortunately, the Phoenix Homesteads served as an excellent model.15 R.T.
Evans had done superior design work and, not wanting to break up the esthetic
attraction of the neighborhood, the RA favored similar construction and
architecture. Unfortunately, local companies, like Evans, would no longer be
used for the task.

The RA had its own staff and Vernon De Mars served as the
administration's regional architect, completing most of the work from his office
in San Francisco. De Mars readied thirty-five homes, all of them to be built of
native adobe, an inexpensive and sensible material which could be
manufactured on site. It also had the extra bonus of creating jobs for local
unskilled laborers.16

Originally, plans for the Baxter Tract and the other tracts on the
Arizona Part-Time Farms had not called for community centers, but early
revisions by the administrator stipulated the inclusion of these buildings. The
Baxter Tract and the Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, would include 144
adults and 36 children, so a community center seemed in order. "I feel this
offers an unparalleled opportunity to provide a pleasant environment for the

people,” stated B. D. Cairns, Regional Chief Architectural Engineer.17

15 Arizona Republic, 28 June 1936.

16 U. s. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Industrial And
Rural Workers on FSA Homesteads," Monthly Labor Review LVI (February
1942) : 363-64; "Cotton and Mud Go into Homes," Business Week, October
28, 1939, p. 20.

17 B, D. Cairns to Jonathan Garst, Regional Director of the Resettlement
Administration, April 30, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.
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A community center represented an important step for the Baxter
Tract as this single building became the social focus of the community.18
Officials in charge of the project were quick to point out that "The community
house now presents a rather imposing view to anyone approaching the
project."19 The facility provided an open air meeting place, a stage for plays
and entertainment, a day nursery, a community store, a small kitchen, and a
common laundry. In an age when doing the laundry was quite a bit more
complex than merely sorting clothes into piles for hot and cold water, the
community center became a place "where the women of the community could
do their washing under the most favorable conditions and with the assistance
of mechanical equipment that could not likely be provided by their meager
incomes."20

The eighteen specific changes, ranging from arranging the equipment to
the addition of a water fountain, show the care and detail placed in this
structure.21 Today, four original drawings by architect Vernon De Mars
present a wonderful depiction of the original plans for the community center.

The structure still stands as part of the community's rich history.

18 Plans by the FERA for homes and a community center in Arizona are
surprisingly similar to the ones which Vernon De Mars presented. This further
shows the involvement of this agency in the Resettlement Administration's
projects. Federal Emergency Relief Administration, Report, Work Division
Activity, Emergency Relief Administration of Arizona, April 1, 1934 to July 1,
1935 (np, nd).

19 Semi-Monthly Narrative Report, November 15-30, 1936, RG 96, Box 91.
20 Cairns to Garst, April 30, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.

21 E. R. Henson to Walter E. Packard, Rural Resettlement Division,
September 10, 1936, RG 96, Box 92.
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Originally, Gregory had expected RR-AZ-7 to be an "infiltration" project.
Infiltration projects consisted of homesteads interspersed among pre-existing
farms in a given area. However, the addition of the community center made
the Arizona Part-Time Farms projects more representative of the "centered
village" type of project than the infiltration class. Centered villages assembled
a group of homesteaders on a single block of land and included a cooperative
farm.

Centered village communities, grouping homes close together with the
community center tying the entire neighborhood together, were the more
experimental of the two formats. These communities were more enduring and
were anticipated to permanently contribute to the nation's prosperity.22 In
addition to being more appealing than a scattered layout, this type of
organization lowered the per capita cost of the living quarters by saving on the
cost of roads, water supply, electric power lines, telephones and other

community services.23

May 1936 was a hectic, critical month in the formation of the Baxter

Tract. At the beginning of the month the RA assigned a resident engineer,

22 According to a recent article on Osage Farms, in Missouri, infiltration
projects were more common in the northeast and middle west, where large
plots of land were not easily obtained. Close community projects were more
popular in the South and southwest. Paul Nieder, "The Osage Farms Project:
An Experimental New Deal Community, 1935-1943," Gateway Heritage,
Summer 1991, p. 53.

23 Joseph W. Eaton, Exploring Tomorrow's Agriculture: Cooperative Group
Farming-A Practical Program of Rural Rehabilitation (New York: Harper &
Brothers, 1943), p. 79.
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Ernest Lisherness, and his staff to oversee the construction phase of the
project. On the ninth, the government exercised its option to buy the
remainder of the land at Twenty-Eighth and Camelback from the First
National Bank of Arizona, bringing the total acreage of the Baxter Tract to
147.75 acres.24 The next day Governor Moeur kicked off construction of the
new development by ceremonially molding the first adobe brick.25 Full scale
brick building operations began a few days later.26

With partial plans arriving from the RA's Construction Division on May
22, the engineers made all the arrangements necessary to lay out the
community.27 The total estimated cost for each house, plus the four acres of
farm land that would be worked cooperatively, amounted to $3,961.50.28 In
1936, the Arizona Part-Time Farm project received $319,890 ; completion was
projected to approach $476,000.29

24 Arizona Republic, 10 May 1936; Land Utilization Division to First National
Bank of Arizona, April 27, 1936, RG 96, Box 88. The bank was willing to sell
71.75 acres at $217 per acre.

25 Arizona Republie, 10 May 1936. At this early date the Glassford Tract
was still anticipated as having eleven homes. Construction was originally
intended to begin first on the Glassford Tract.

26 Narrative Report for RR-AZ-7, March 15-31, 1937, RG 96; U.S.
Resettlement Administration, First Annual Report of the Resettlement
Administration (Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1936), p.
78.

27 Narrative Report for RR-AZ-7, March 15-31, 1937, RG 96.

28 Arizona Part Time Farms Tracts Nos. 1 and 3, Analysis of Farm
Management Plan for Baxter and Glassford Tracts, Garst to Tugwell, July 3,
1936, RG 96, Box 87.

29 USRA., First Annual Report, pp. 147,150.
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Thousands of individuals and families remained in desperate need of the
help in 1936 and 1937. Thus, public support for this second homestead project
ran high, just as it had for the first project. But serious delays hampered the
progress of the RA's efforts. Vernon De Mars' final plans for the homes passed
slowly through the Planning Division in Washington and did not arrive in
Phoenix until September 22. Four months passed between the time the first
set of plans arrived and the completion of enough adobe bricks to begin
construction. Full-scale construction finally began on October 1, 1936.30

Meantime, at the Chandler Tract, four multi-family, two story units
designed to accommodate eight families did not get started until December 16,
1936. Active construction on eighteen three and six room dwellings on the
Glendale Tract began a week after that.31 According to the RA, the entire
Baxter Tract project would be completed within five months of receiving the
final plans.32 This proved to be wishful thinking, for problems quickly

developed.

Lisherness, the project engineer, worked hard but he was also in charge
of the Chandler and Glendale projects. He spent part of each day driving

between the projects, noting their progress and deficiencies, then filing reports

30 Narrative Report for RR-AZ-7, March 15-31, 1937, RG 96; G. M. Shumaker
to Waldie, Regional Engineer, RG 96, Box 89. Plans were received on
September 21 and construction was to begin immediately, on September 22,
1936. Lisherness to Waldie, February 3, 1937, Ibid.

31 Tbid.; Miscellaneous Information, RR-AZ-7, RG 96.

32 USRA, First Annual Report, p. 78.
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to Regional Engineer Inspector Robert Waldie in San Francisco.33
Lisherness's reports and inspections covered every detail of the construction
phase of the project. He scrutinized everything, from the appearance of the
windows to the observation that the bathroom ventilators lacked covering
caps. Through his semi-monthly reports it is possible to follow the progress of
the Baxter Tract, step by step, beginning to end, as if the reader were present
at the creation.

Even though De Mars' plans had been thoroughly scrutinized by the
Planning Division, some flaws in the designs prevented the project from staying
on schedule. Revised drafts only exposed new problems, causing Regional
Engineer Inspector Robert Waldie to exclaim to Philip Fleming, Director of the
Inspection Division, "All but one house falls short of our generally accepted
standards."34 The placement of the bathrooms is a excellent example of an
unpleasant flaw. As Waldie insightfully commented, "Requiring the resident to
go out of doors to reach the bathroom seems to be an undesirable feature
entirely without basis in local tradition."35

The adobe also presented an ongoing problem. At first some
misunderstanding existed about the proper production method, but later more

serious problems surfaced.36 In an October 24, 1936, letter to Waldie, Project

33 Earnest Lisherness to Waldie, October 23, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.
34 Ibid.
35 Tbid.

36 Mr. Lisherness made an extensive investigation of the adobe making
procedure and listed everything from the selection and preparation of the site,
to the stacking of the partially dried brick. Preliminary Specifications for the
Manufacture of Adobe Brick, RG 96, Box 89.
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Engineer Lisherness noted that if the design plans were followed as blueprinted,
a serious problem would arise the first time it rained. Known to be a popular
and useful building material in the southwest, no one at the Planning Division
in Washington understood that dried mud needed to be specially treated to
show qualities of durability. The original plans neglected to call for protective
measures, a covering of either emulsified asphalt or stucco, or at least an over-
hanging roof, instead allowing the bricks to deteriorate in the wind and rain.37
When it was decided that a stucco covering would adequately eliminate the
problem, further dispute arose over how much of the wall actually needed
treatment and how cheaply the repair work could be done. The RA feared
cosmetic work would make the homes so unappealing that they would attract
"only the lowest income type of homesteaders."38

Landscaping posed another persistent problem. At first the cost of

providing city water for the extensive irrigation needs ranged between $6-8 per
month, "an impossible sum for the income group expected," warned
Lisherness.39 The solution was addressed by tapping into the SRVWUA
irrigation system. Their irrigation water came in at the affordable rate of
$2.30 for the first two acre feet of water and an additional $1 for each
additional acre foot.40

37 Lisherness to Waldie, October 16, 1936, Ibid.
38 Lisherness to Waldie, October 24, 1936, Ibid.
39 Lisherness to Waldie, December 7, 1936, Thid.

40 Narrative Report, December 1-15, 1936, RG 96, Box 91; Garst to Waldie,
September 22, 1937, RG 96, Box 90.



[image: image83.jpg]76

Another landscaping dilemma revolved around the $1,000 cost overrun
for shrubs and trees.41 Furthermore, many of the species chosen by
bureaucrats in Washington, D. C. were completely ill-suited to the dry, hot
Arizona climate. In one case, the shrub chosen for the tract hosted 'citrus
scale,' a debilitating virus which attacked citrus trees, and state law forbade its
transportation into Arizonal42

Other criticisms accumulated over a period of a few months. Chief
among them were that four houses had been arranged so that the front view
peered directly into the rear of the next house, double hung windows
predominated over newer, more modern casement windows, roof plans did not
provide necessary water proofing, and the method of sewage disposal allowed
emissions from septic tanks to leak and contaminate vegetables with
bacillus.43

The instances mentioned above demonstrate the practicality of the
decentralized organizational scheme which M. L. Wilson had felt so strongly
about when he directed the DSH. Many of the problems which plagued the
Arizona Part-Time Farms simply had not come up at any time during the early
phases of the Rural Homes In Arizona project, in part because local
recommendations eliminated much confusion and misunderstanding. When it
was noted in the Arizona Part-Time Farms' Final Inspection Report that,

"There appears to be little realization of the requirement of living , adaptation

41 Daily Report, November 7, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.
42 Narrative Report, December 15-31, 1936, RG 96, Box 91.

43 Daily Report, October 19, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.
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to location, and climatic conditions, or of material combinations,” one can
almost hear Wilson whispering, "I told you so."44

Successfully dealing with the material deficiencies of the project was one
thing, handling the laborers on the job was quite another. According to RA
guidelines, workers were supposed to be drawn from a list of persons already on
the public relief roles. After this supply of eligible relief labor had been
exhausted, the RA could turn to the Works Progress Administration (WPA) for
labor from their list of workers.45 All the workers on the Arizona Part-Time
Farms were provided by the WPA. As many as 149 of these men partook in
the construction of the Baxter Tract.46

Mr. Lisherness disliked WPA workers, with particular ire being reserved
for the unnecessary errors and expenses caused by their haste and down right
lack of skill. The worker's propensity to rush the work resulted in a constant
source of frustration. An entry in the report from November 1-15, 1936, is
typical of the complaints which Lisherness voiced, matter-of-factly stating
that while "criticism can be directed at the construction methods, there is
neither sufficient or efficient direction of the men. . . . The workers are of WPA
origin and are not fully experienced or efficient. They often claim abilities
beyond their capacity."4? Later he continued, "They are not the best skilled

workmen that can be obtained. Men are dismissed for failures which have

44 Attachment to Certificate of Completion [Acceptance], RG 96, Box 88.
45 USRA, First Annual Report, p. 103.
46 Daily Report, November 10, 1936, RG 96, Box 89.

47 Narrative Report, November 1-15, 1936, RG 96, Box 91.
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often been due to lack of foresight."48 While everyone involved desired to see
the projects completed, no one wished to sacrifice quality and workmanship.

Unfortunately, these persistent and varied problems seriously slowed
construction at the Baxter Tract. Luckily, Lisherness and the other ranking
officials cared enough about the project to make certain the problems were
resolved. Altogether forty-six change orders needed extra attention.49
Although it was taking considerably more time to complete the project than
anticipated, Lisherness remained overall quite pleased with the Baxter Tract.
By mid-November he decided, "It can be said that the houses have been
greatly improved and made far more attractive. The work will undoubtedly
progress better. The eventual result will be that a fine class of people will be
attracted to the project."00 Though problems of every sort plagued
construction on the project, those in charge kept a watchful eye over the

proceedings, insuring a quality product.

As production came closer to a conclusion, official Washington
unraveled. The newest turmoil revolved around the resignation of Rexford G.
Tugwell as the Director of the RA. As had been the case before, negative

notoriety continued to follow the resettlement or homestead programs. The

48 Narrative Report, November 15-30, 1936, Ibid.

49 Arizona Part Time Farms, Baxter Tract, RF-AZ-7, Change Orders, RG 96,
Box 88.

50 Narrative Report, November 1-15, 1936, RG 96, Box 91.
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focus of the criticism, some of it very harsh indeed, can be adequately summed
up in eight points:

(1) Many of the programs were viewed as necessary, but unfortunate, and
should be considered as temporary in nature.
(2) The RA unnecessarily challenged the status quo.
(8) Many persons resented that the agency had been created through
executive order, rather than through traditional political channels.
(4) Many of the agency's officials in policy-making and supervisory positions
were not agriculturists; most of them did not have agrarian orientations.
(5) Tugwell himself was a controversial member of the Roosevelt
administration and one way to get at him was through the RA.
(6) Administrative and construction expenses were excessively high.
(7) The promotion of esoteric activities among the agency's clientele, such as
folk dancing and basket weaving, was difficult to explain and harder yet to
justify.
(8) The RA did not enjoy adequate public exposure among its potential
supporters.51

The denouncements and dilemmas, coupled with personal matters,
drove Tugwell to decide that it was best for him to step down from the
leadership of the RA. However, he had not lost interest in the goals of the RA.
Tugwell played an instrumental role in urging Henry A. Wallace, Director of
the United States Department of the Agriculture, to openly accept the RA into

his cabinet-level department.52 Tugwell's resignation took place December 31,

51 Sidney Baldwin, Poverty and Politics: The Rise and Decline of the Farm
Security Administration (Chapel Hill, North Carolina: The University of North
Carolina Press, 1968), p. 125.

52 Ipbid. , p. 128.
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1936. That same day the President issued an Executive Order transferring the
RA to the United States Department of Agriculture. William Alexander

assumed the role of administrator.

Work continued on the Baxter Tract from January through March, 1937
under the continued guidance of the RA. The only difference was that now,
instead of being an independent administration in the New Deal conglomeration
of programs, the RA belonged to the Department of Agriculture. Going about
its business as usual, the RA effectively dealt with each problem at the Baxter
Tract. For all practical purposes, construction on the project terminated on
March 15, 1937, and it stood ready for final inspection.53 Though a few
deficiencies remained, specifically completion of the irrigation system and some
road rolling, engineer Lisherness conveniently overlooked them as mere
technicalities. He had come too far to see the approval of his project delayed
any longer.54 Most everyone, not just Lisherness, waited eagerly for the
project to be occupied and enjoyed. That moment came on March 30, 1937,
with the Baxter Tract's official Certificate of Acceptance, transferring it out of

the RA's Construction Division and into their Management Division.55

53 Narrative Report, March 1-15, 1937, RG 96, Box 91; Arizona Republic, 10
March 1937; Phoenix Gazette, 20 March 1937; Arizona Republic, 21 March
1937.

54 Lisherness to Waldie, March 31, 1937, RG 96, Box 89.

55 George Smith to Waldie, April 13, 1937, Ibid.; RA Inspection Division,
Certificate of Acceptance, and RA Transfer of Custody Agreement, RG 96, Box
93.
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With the completion of the residences and community center there
remained only one portion of the Baxter Tract yet uncompleted. The dairy, the
farm, and the poultry buildings for the farming operation still needed to be built.
As a matter of fact, plans for these cooperative structures did not even exist.
When blueprints did arrive in May, the estimated cost of the structures far
exceeded the allotted funds.56 Happily, however, on May 22, Colonel P. B.
Fleming, Director of the Inspection Division, saved the day when, after visiting
the site, he approved the installation of the buildings at an expected cost of
$17,000.57

As it had been a major concern for the DSH, so too the selection of
proper settlers remained an important issue for the RA. It would help no one if
homesteaders were poorly chosen, or, worse, from the wrong class of people.

On the surface, it was purely a matter of economics. Poorly paid "cotton
pickers and stoop labor in the lettuce fields," simply could not afford to make
payments on homesteads in the Baxter Tract.58 On the other hand, workers
legitimately employed in hay harvesting or grain combining, tractor driving,
mechanic work, or truck driving could afford to live in the Baxter Tract because

these occupations paid between $650-$1000 per year.59 Homesteads, after

56 Narrative Report, May 1-15, 1937, RG 96, Box 91.
57 Narrative Report, May 15-31, 1937, Ibid.
58 Garst to Tugwell, Final Project Plan, July 3, 1936, RG 96, Box 87.

59 James E. Franklin, Junior Farm Management Specialist, Farm Labor
Conditions Surrounding the Baxter Part-Time Farms, RG 96, Box 87; U. S.
Department of Labor, "Industrial and Rural Workers," p. 362.
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all, were never intended, even from the administration of the DSH, for the truly
destitute or, in reality, even a typical laborer. By the government's own
calculations the average workman in Arizona was paid $45 per month and to
maintain oneself in the Baxter Tract would require at least $65 per month.60

Though the annual expenses projected for a family of five by the RA in
the Farm Family Living Budget for RR-AZ-7: $89 for food, $90 for clothing,
$18 for ice and refrigeration, $3 for sewing supplies, $10 for recreation, and $5
for church and social welfare, certainly represent a modest lifestyle, they also
provide for an adequate one.61 One must not forget that the family was also
expected to earn income through individual gardening and participation in the
cooperative farm.62 By no means would such a budget have been considered
draconian, particularly during the hard times of the depression.

Placing financial expectations or restraints on potential homesteaders is
understandable because of the direct correlation that existed between the
settler's ability to pay rent and the success of the project. However, other
limitations, ones which stand out as being more prejudicial than practical, also
emerged from the administration's guidelines. Race and religion were both

closely monitored. "The group from which the homesteaders are to be selected

60 E. R. Henson to J. H. Jenkins Assistant Director of the Economic and
Social Section, March 10, 1936, RG 96, Box 88.

61 The average family of five consisted of a husband and wife, a high school
aged son, a daughter in elementary school, and an infant. Arizona was
considered to be economical for clothing expenses because the warm weather
made heavy clothing unnecessary. Resettlement Administration, Farm
Family Living Budget, RR-AZ-7, August 26, 1936, RG 96, Box 92.

62 The specific amount projected to result from farming and cooperative
participation varied from report to report. In the RA's Farm Family Living
Budget, $468 was the anticipated dividend.
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will undoubtedly be of the white race with both Catholic and Protestant
religions represented,"” read a report from the administration.63 Other reports
spoke disparagingly of Mexican-Americans and "lower class” citizens:
"Mexicans while strictly speaking are Caucasians, do not mix well with white
people."64 Another document blatantly stated that, "There is some doubt as
to whether a Mexican family would know what to do with $300 for household
furniture."65

It may not be entirely accurate to label the whole homestead project as
elitist or racist, because of the above remarks. The basis for the exclusion of
certain groups, be they racial, economic, or religious, was not undertaken for
the express purpose of keeping people out. Rather, the administrator believed
that a homogeneous group would be more likely to exhibit the kind of close knit
togetherness necessary for the success of resettlement projects. To that end,
separate projects were created expressly for Afro-Americans and persons of
Mexican descent.66

A more disturbing note comes some years later, in the Declaration of

Restrictions attached to the deed for the Phoenix Homesteads land. This

63 Rural Resettlement Division, Project Cost and Budget Estimate, RR-AZ-7,
Tract Number 1, February 1936, RG 96, Box 87; Miscellaneous Information,
RG 96.

64 Qutline of Social Activities by ERA of Arizona, RG 96, Box 86.

65 H. W. Truesdell, Analysis Section to B. D. Seeley, Assistant Director in
Charge of Control Sub-Division, March 26, 1936, RG 96, Box 92.

66 The New Deal's treatment of minorities is a question still open for debate,
for an insightful discussion of the issue see: Gerald D. Nash, The Great
Depression adn World War II: Organizing America, 1933-1945 (New York: St.
Martin's Press, 1979).
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document, a work of the homesteaders rather than the government, is much

more explicit. It states:

"No part of any lot shall be used, occupied, leased, rented, or
sold to any persons or person who are themselves, or whose spouse,
or any member of the immediate family are of Mexican, Mexican
Indian, American Indian, Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Malay,
Philipino, Negro, Hindu, or Hebrew race or descent, or of any race
other than white or Caucasian race: excepting that this covenant
shall not be construe to prevent occupancy by domestic servants of
a different race employed by an owner or tenant occupying the
property.57

An adequate explanation behind such a clause is beyond the scope of this
study. It is best noted as a reminder of the political and social climate in
Arizona during this period.

Formal selection of families for the Arizona Part-Time Farms actually
began in April 1936, six months before full scale construction started on the
Baxter Tract. By the time construction commenced in October, 1936, some 96
applications had been received by the RA.68 As construction continued, so
too did the applications. Mr. Lisherness's final report for 1936 noted that the
number of people showing interest had increased noticeably as the community
took on a sense of permanency.69

With a steady stream of applications coming into the office, by the time

the project was completed 162 applications had been filed. "There are so many

67 Declaration of Restrictions, Phoenix Homestead Association, December 30,
1947, E. Anderson's Personal Collection of the Documents Relating to the
Phoenix Homesteads

68 Semi-Monthly Report on Progress of Family Selection, October 1, 1936, RG
96, Box 88. Mrs. Theone Hauge served as the family selectionist. Phoenix
Gazette, 20, March 1937.

69 Narrative Report, December 15-31, 1936, RG 96, Box 91.



[image: image92.jpg]85
applications for the houses, that the problem of selection is difficult,” worried
Lisherness.”’0 His concerns were justified. One year later, on April 16, 1937,
with the thirty-five homes on the Baxter Tract now complete, not one had been
assigned to a homesteader.”1 Two weeks later, only one house was
occupied.”2 The government claimed no fault. It said this sloth-like progress
persisted because Arizona candidates, as a group, did not own their own
furm'shings.73 The complete accuracy of this generalization is questionable,
but it is true that many of the selected residents lived in rental homes where

such amenities were included.”4

As workers completed the Baxter Tract project, serious consideration
turned to the question of how to best organize the farming operation. After
thoughtful deliberation, it was decided that to best serve the goals of the RA,
the land from the Glassford, Baxter, and Glendale tracts should all be farmed
cooperatively under the same farming operation. This would provide full-time
work for seven members and part-time work for others during harvest and
other busy times. In return, food and income would be provided for the entire

membership as they allowed their individual four acres of land to be used in

70 Narrative Report, March 15-31, 1937, Ibid.

71 Semi-Monthly Report on Progress of Family Selection, April 16, 1937, RG
96, Box 88.

72 Narrative Report, April 15-31, 1937, RG 96, Box 91.
73 Garst to W. W. Alexander, June 19, 1937, RG 96, Box 90.

74 Interview with Jack Mott, Original Resident, Phoenix, Arizona, 22 February
1993.
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common. The farm operation then leased additional land from the government
and operated both units as a commercial enterprise under one management.

On June 21, 1937, taking its name from the prominent, double humped,
Camelback Mountain which dominated the eastern horizon, the Camelback
Farms formed a corporation.75 It created two separate cooperative units.
The first, the Producer Department operated 225 acres of land loaned by the
government and sold produce at wholesale prices to both outside buyers and
the Consumer Department of the Camelback Farms. The surplus from this
operation went into a fund dedicated to maintaining the farm, while also
providing work for members in times of temporary unemployment.

Cash incomes for those working on the farm were divided in accordance
with the unequal labor advance on dividends method.76 According to this
method, labor advances relied on two factors: the skill of each member, and the
number of hours of work. Depending on the worker's skills they could receive a
high or low hourly wage for the work they performed. At the Chandler farms,
for example, the average member received twenty-five cents per hour, or about
$60 a month. Skilled dairy or poultry men, on the other hand, received a flat
monthly salary of between, $70 and $75.77

The second section of the Camelback Farms, the Consumer

Department, was organized to distribute the food from the Producers

75 See Article of Incorporation, June 21, 1937; J. O. Walker, Director of the
Resettlement Division to Mile Perkins, Assistant Administrator of the FSA,
March 28, 1938, and Garst to Alexander, June 19, 1937, RG 96. Box 90.

76 Eaton, Exploring , p. 141. One third of the government cooperative farms
used this method.

77 Ibid. , pp. 141-42.
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Department to members and non-members who paid retail prices for the
goods. Members could not receive wages inasmuch as they constituted partial
ownership of the farm and possessed a claim on whatever income their
association amassed. If the farm's earnings exceeded the labor costs, then
dividends would be divided equally among the members of the farm on a
patronage basis.”8

The corporation functioned democratically with each family receiving
one vote. According to Jonathan Garst, Regional Director of the RA, the
organization of the farms was the, "result of contemplation and discussion by a
good many people over a long period of time."79 Articles and by-laws were
drawn up by the Legal Division of the RA in Washington. From their offices in
Tempe, J. A. Waldron served as State Community Manager and Robert G.
Craig as Project Manager. The government agreed to accept twenty-five
percent of the market value of all crops produced on the farm as rent on the
leased farm land and buildings, an amount estimated at $2,273.50 per year.80

The 137 acre farming unit of the Baxter/Glassford Tract, which
principally farmed for hegari, cotton, hay, and alfalfa, also included 36 cows,
900 hens, 3,000 turkeys. Vegetables, fruits, and berries were grown on the
small individual gardens adjacent to residences and, under revised plans, would

not likely be sold for income. Close attention was paid to making sure that the

78 W.W. Anglin to Garst, June 18, 1937, RG 96, Box 90.

79 Garst to Alexander, June 19, 1937, RG 96, Box 90. The Chandler Farms
were similarly organized. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Production by Self-
Help Organizations of Unemployed,” Monthly Labor Review XXXIX (July
1934) : 25.

80 Walker to Mile Perkins, March 28, 1938, RG 96, Box 90.
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members of the Baxter Tract were not working for similar industries as those
provided by the cooperative farm provided. The RA considered this a potential
conflict of interest which should be avoided.

As usual, the project remained experimental, an attempt to see if a
social group could supplement their income, reduce living expenses, and
achieve a better standard of living though cooperation.81 The stated goals
were to give consumers products, to maintain fertility of the soil, and to provide
continuous employment for workers.82

In retrospect, it can be seen that the Baxter and Glendale tracts
provided good housing, raised standards of living for struggling families, and
artfully combined good wages with supplemental income and subsistence
farming. Income for the homesteaders, in fact, came from four separate
sources: wages on the cooperative farm, work outside the farm, dividends from
cooperatives, and subsistence gardening. The Baxter and Glendale tracts
enrolled fifty-nine families and members from the Rural Homes In Arizona,
Unit B, were also invited to participate in purchasing goods from the
cooperative farms.83 Most of the residents worked in nearby cities or on
private farms. Dairying and poultry husbandry were the major sources of

income for members of the Arizona Part-Time Farms.84

81 U.S. Department of Agriculture, FSA Division of Information, Region IX
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, April 1939), pp. 7-8.

82 Garst to Alexander, June 19, 1937, RG 96, Box 90.
83 Anglin to Garst, June 18, 1937, Ibid.

84 Eaton, Exploring, p.73.
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While members of the Glendale and Baxter tracts would combine
resources, manpower, and land into one cooperative association for the benefit
of both communities, the housing sections of each tract operated separate
from the farming. The government leased the houses, which were rented to the
Baxter Tract's homeowner section, on a cash basis. The residents then paid
the Government an amount equal to insurance, maintenance, and payments in
lieu of taxes.85

At this point, a clear distinction existed between the Arizona Part-Time
Farms project of the RA and the Rural Homes In Arizona's homesteads
established under the direction of the DSH. The division's homesteads were
built primarily to provide poor industrial workers and farm laborers with part-
time work, housing, and a garden plot. For the most part their agricultural
practices were minimal, usually the simple tilling of a small garden plot, and
was left entirely up to the individuals. The Arizona Part-Time Farms project
took the gardening idea one giant step forward by creating cooperative farms.
Thus they became intimately involved in the social life and business life of the
participants. Members were provided a residence, but were then required to be
involved in the cooperative farming operations. Dividends from this enterprise
were necessary to individual families' survival, or at least their continuance, in
the project.

Although the farm land of the Baxter and Glassford tracts was ready to
be farmed soon after completion of the homes on the Baxter Tract, and the
farm buildings were near completion by the end of June, operations were
tenuous until a $26,988 cooperative loan from the government came through

in June, 1937. Shortly thereafter, on September 1, 1937, the Bankhead Jones

85 Perkins to Walker, February 2, 1937, RG 96, Box 90.
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Farm Tenancy Act placed the RA within the authority of the Farm Security
Administration of the Department of Agriculture.
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Life on the Baxter Tract and in the Phoenix Homesteads

With the occupation of the Baxter Tract and the beginning of farming
operations on the Camelback Farms, life for the residents settled down to a
normal course, just as it had earlier for the members of the first Phoenix
project. The first report available from the Arizona Part-Time Farms came in
August, 1938, more than a year after operations had begun on the Camelback
Farms. Project managers continued their follow-up with monthly reports, a
practice that went nearly uninterrupted for the next four years. Just as the
semi-monthly reports regarding the construction of the Baxter Tract affords
the historian an insider's look at the developments there, so too the monthly
reports of the Arizona Part-Time Farms provides a substantive body of
evidence with which to observe the activities in the two neighborhoods.

Clearly, the most productive and rewarding aspect of the two projects
was community involvement. Neighborhood members consistently took
advantage of the social and educational opportunities provided at the
homesteads, and, in time, the two units decided to merge themselves into the
already formed Phoenix Homesteads Association.

The following is a brief list of activities which were popular with
members of the Baxter Tract and the Phoenix Homesteads and gives an
example of the opportunities provided on the homesteads. A rug making
demonstration once attracted eleven women and a demonstration entitled
"What's New in Vegetable Cookery" attracted sixteen members. Women also
assembled at the community center for bake sales or to make grapefruit

marmalade, as they did on one occasion in order to raise money to send two
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women to London for a conference on rural home makers. The drama society,
dance and craft classes, a Home Makers Club, several social bridge clubs and a
4-H Club all benefited from strong patronage.l

Some differentiation existed between the activities of the Baxter and
Glendale tracts. People on the Baxter Tract showed more interest in playing
bridge or forming drama clubs than they did in making rugs or learning metal
work. The government assessed this difference clinically, as ifit really
mattered, finally coming to the conclusion it had to do with the higher income
levels of people on the Baxter Tract.2

As had been anticipated, the community center served as the base for
all of the activities. The center received its highest use around the Christmas
season, hosting numerous parties and celebrations.3 So strong a bond was
forged among the families that even as late as March, 1941, the association's
annual buffet dinner for the Baxter, Glendale, and Phoenix homesteads
attracted one hundred percent attendance As the project manager
commented, "Quite a unified and balanced program has been worked out," and

indeed it had. Even more satisfying was the fact that interest and

1 Both the Resettlement Administration and the Farm Security
Administration placed education as an important part of the homestead
experience. Similar activity took place on projects around the country.
Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Industrial and Rural
Workers on Farm Security Homesteads," Monthly Labor Review, February
1942, p. 372.

2U.S. Department of Agriculture, Farm Security Administration, Division of
Information, April 1938 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office) ,
p: 8:

3 Narrative Reports, Robert G. Craig, Project Manager to J. A. Waldron, State
Director, FSA, December, 1938, Record Group 96, Box 26, Records of the
Farmers Home Administration, National Archives, Suitland, Maryland.
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participation in this social aspect of the community remained strong even
when the farm operations or the economy as a whole faltered. To a large
extent, this same type of community togetherness persists into the 1990s as
evidenced by the annual summer picnic, the luminaria Festival held at
Christmas time for Phoenix Homestead neighborhood families, and the process
the community went through to become a registered National Historic District.

This same cooperative spirit also drew the other resettlement projects
in the area together. The Camelback Farm borrowed equipment from the
other projects and joined with them to own a hammer mill. The communities
also shared manpower. Boys from the Chandler project, for example, assisted
in harvesting crops on the Camelback Farms, and young men from the
Camelback Farms returned the favor at other times.4

While it is clear that residents of the Baxter Tract and the Rural Homes
In Arizona, Unit B, drew closer together as the years wore on, it should also be
noted that distinct differences between the two neighborhoods stood out.
Perhaps the most noticeable discrepancy was the vacancies. Unit B benefited
from almost one hundred percent occupancy of the homes. When someone did
have to vacate, a long list of applicants provided a speedy replacement.> By
1939, the Phoenix Homestead Association even secured loans so that
members could add on rooms to their homes, a step that made their

community even more attractive to potential members.6

4 Thid.

5 Mr. Foster Kelly moved out and numerous applications for his home were
filed. Narrative Report, May 1939, RG 96, Box 26.

6 Report on Examination, Phoenix Homesteads Association, Phoenix Maricopa
County, Arizona, For Three Months Ended September 30, 1942, RG 96, Box
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On the Baxter Tract, vacancies presented a reoccurring problem,
continually plaguing the success of the project. By February, 1939, three
homes sat unoccupied. At one time, fourteen of thirty-five homes stood
empty.”

The major reason for the difference between the two projects can be
linked to their different forms of organization and to the relatively high cost of
the homes on the Baxter Tract. The Rural Homes In Arizona's homesteads
were run by a homeowners association. The members paid monthly rents to
the association which, in turn, paid federal authorities. On the Baxter Tract,
residents belonged to the Camelback Farms Inc. Home Owners Section. Here
the home's cost reflected the increased cost of farm land plus outbuildings.
Rent at the Baxter Tract stabilized at between $20-23 per month, but by
comparison rent at the Chandler apartments was only $9 per month and $15-
17 at Glendale. Even rent at Longview, Washington was only $17.50 per
month.8 Unfortunately, local farm wages generally did not provide the required
income to meet rent payments on the Baxter Tract.

Unemployment was a blight which both neighborhoods battled and the
consequences could be harsh. If a homesteader did not meet the monthly rent
payment, eviction soon followed. While the homesteaders at Unit B and the

Baxter Tract had been chosen for their perceived ability to obtain and retain

12. The loan, probably for the five one room houses, was to be paid off by June
1976.

7 Narrative Report, June 1940, RG 96, Box 26. Very few names are provided.
Two residents who did happen to be mentioned were Mr. Vermillion who moved
to El Paso, Texas, and Mr. Wise who moved to Glendale to be closer to his work.

8 Department of Labor, "Industrial and Rural Workers on Farm Security
Homesteads," p. 372; USDA, Division of Information, April 1938, p. 8.
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employment, the job market during the late stages of the depression in Phoenix
remained extremely precarious. Residents of the Baxter Tract had the
advantage of working part time for the farming operation, but this resource
was limited. In May, 1938, two homesteaders faced eviction; unemployment
was listed as the cause.9 Generally the Resettlement Administration and the
Farm Security Administration chose not to evict residents unless they had no
other choice. To do so presented a difficult legal process and one often resulting
in charges of discrimination against the regional office.10

In response to the serious problem of vacancies, the Board of Directors
for the Camelback Farms (Samuel A. Nash, President; Edward G. Buck, Vice-
President; Joe H. Carson, Treasurer; Herbert T. Sledd, Secretary), elected in
January, 1939, began to take the necessary steps aimed at reform. One
option considered setting five houses aside in the Baxter Tract for the sole use
of farm workers on the Camelback Farms. When they realized that this
change was not going to sufficiently halt the chronic housing problems, the
board discussed ways to alter sections of the Camelback Farms Home Owners
-charter. The board recommended that "a more suitable condition would be
obtained if the houses were sold to an association such as the Phoenix

Homesteads." Neither of these remedies, as it turned out, was too far away.

Initially the crops on the Baxter Tract portion of Camelback Farm

revolved primarily around alfalfa, red maize, oats and some cotton. At the

9 Narrative Report, March 1938, RG 96, Box 26.

10 Comments on Excerpt from December [1936] Monthly Report-Region IX,
RG 96, Box 26.
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Glassford Tract, hegari and red maize were the main crops. The dairy unit
ordinarily handled about 50 cows, while the poultry unit housed 900 chickens
and 3,000 turkeys.1! Yields from these crops were generally reported as being
satisfactory, with overall favorable prices, though the dairy and poultry
sections performed above average. A brief look into farming activity on the
Camelback Farm's Baxter Tract can be instructive.

Beginning in 1938, Stanley Winchester served as the Farm Security
Administration's manager for the Camelback Farms. With his help, the farm
ran smoothly and benefited from extremely productive yields. On the average,
around thirty cows were milked each month and the birds in the poultry
division consistently multiplied.12 But from this early date, a problem surfaced
which plagued the Camelback Farms throughout its history.

One cannot look at the raw output of gallons of milk produced, hay
harvested, or eggs gathered when considering the success or failure of a farm.
Productivity of the land was only one factor. For the farming operation to be
considered truly successful the crops, dairy products, and poultry needed to be
purchased at prices that would yield a profit. This meant the consumer
cooperative of the Baxter Tract needed the business of all the members of the
homestead project. If not, the entire program would be in jeopardy, regardless
of the output.

During the first month of 1939, inspectors reported that "the Farm

shows all crops to be in good shape, neat and well cared for." But serious

11 Miscellaneous Information for RR-AZ-7, RG 96. Glendale possessed a
separate dairy and poultry operation.

12 Narrative Reports, Craig to Waldron, August, November, and December
1938, RG 96, Box 26.
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problems lurked just beneath the surface.13 One month later the board of
directors decided to allow the National Youth Association (NYA), a New Deal
program something akin to the Boy Scouts, except with an emphasis on giving
young people practical knowledge in farming or other land-related activities, to
take over the Baxter farm land.

A decision was reached to turn the assets of Camelback
Farms together with the land of the Baxter Tract with the
farm buildings over to NYA. . . . It was felt that the project
would be of more real value by offering an opportunity to
teach these young people. . . than it is at the present time
operated as a consumer cooperative with a group of people
who are not particularly interested.14

This was not an easy decision, since it meant giving up on the original
plans for the community. But judging from the tone of this excerpt, the
dissatisfaction felt toward the lack of participation in the consumers'
cooperative made it a necessary one.

The idea of turning the land over to the NYA received further discussion
during the spring and from the narrative reports it sounded as if the idea were
all but written in stone. However, for one reason or another the transfer never
materialized. Most likely, the Farm Security Administration felt that a new
and energetic board of directors and officers might bring renewed faith to the
initial goals of the project and reinvigorate community participation, thereby
allowing the project to function as it had been originally intended. "Without
question the Board will be of great help in developing community support for
the farm," reported the manager. Still the fact that such drastic measures

needed to be considered so early in the project's life dramatizes the serious

13 Narrative Report, January 1939, RG 96, Box 26.

14 Narrative Reports, February and May 1939, RG 96, Box 26.
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problems being faced by the lack of owner participation in the cooperative
program. Unfortunately, this remained a persistent problem.

Having abandoned the NYA plan, the government still felt uneasy
leaving the project in the fate of the new board of directors. J. A. Waldron,
Arizona Director of the Farm Security Administration, recommended that the
current manager for the Arizona Part-Time Farms project be replaced by a
person who could devote more time to the needs of the Camelback Farms.
Waldron felt that there was not enough emphasis on getting the products of
the farm to market and he wanted someone with experience and ability. The
situation was so urgent that Waldron even recommended opening membership
in the consumer cooperative to the general public.

This was only the tip of the project's problems. Waldron also concurred
with the board of directors that six houses from the Baxter Tract should be
rented to the cooperative in the same manner as the farm land and buildings.
With vacancy an enduring problem on the Baxter Tract, Waldron now
admitted that the rent on these homes was too costly for a typical farmer's
wage. Not only did these vacancies hinder the success of the Baxter Tract, but
they also hurt the farming operation because there were fewer people to buy
the products. Waldron informed the director, "If the farm is required to pay
sufficient wages to offset the rent now charged it will be impossible to operate
the farm profitably."15 The five houses were turned over to the farm in the fall
of 1939, and could thus be offered to laborers as part of their wage income,

offsetting some of the burden on the holding's budget and, at the same time,

15 Waldron to Walker, Director Resettlement Division, Farm Security
Administration, February 10, 1939, RG 96, Box 90.
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filling the houses on the Baxter Tract.16 These developments certainly must
have been grave disappointments.

A serious drought afflicted Arizona in 1940, nearly devastating both the
Camelback and Chandler farms. While they were able to grow enough feed for
the dairy and poultry to survive, neither farm raised the expected amounts of
cotton or alfalfa.17 This had a serious impact on the profitability of the
farming, despite the fact that the Agricultural Adjustment Act compensated
the association for any losses due to drought. Making the best of a bad
situation, something at which homesteaders were quite expert, production on
the Camelback Farms rebounded slightly by the end of the year.18 As a
matter of fact, the need for milk was so great, at twenty-five cents per gallon,
that ten extra cows had to be purchased to meet the demand.1® But the farm
could not exist on milk alone.

Luckily, the board of directors and the residents alike took a positive
attitude during this period.20 They even seized a renewed, although only
temporary, interest in the cooperative structure of the project. An indication
of this new attitude can be found in the creation of a successful buying

cooperative organized by several industrious members of the association. At

16 Memo to Laurence I. Hewes, Regional Director, June 25, 1940, RG 96, Box
26.

17 Narrative Report for the Arizona and California Farm Properties for the
Month of June 1940, Ibid.

18 Narrative Report, September 1940, Ibid.
19 Memo to Laurence I. Hewes, June 25, 1940, Ibid.

20 1bid.
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first they purchased only meat, but as the summer and autumn months wore
on, this enterprise continued to expand and provided more and more products
for its members at reduced rates.21

The Farm Security Administration appreciated such positive acts, but
they were not enough to make the farm operate profitably. Simply stated, the
cooperative had to be patronized or it would go out of business and with it,
perhaps the entire concept of cooperative homesteads. Unfortunately, the
fact that the community members did not buy the majority of the dairy and
other needs from the community cooperative never reversed itself and no
board of directors seemed to have the ability to make it otherwise. Meantime,
management problems once again loomed over the project.22

After a mild winter, bad weather conditions returned in the spring of
1941 to hamper the growing season for the second year in a row. Dairy sales
dwindled, but during the first half of the year the sales of chickens increased
and the price of eggs from the poultry unit actually exceeded expectations.23
The price received was now twenty-eight cents per dozen, whereas they had
only brought sixteen cents per dozen a year earlier. Hay yields also increased,
up to two and a half tons per acre. It must have come as welcome reliefin

May when Waldron reported that "to date for this year every enterprise at

21 Narrative Reports for June, July, and October 1941, RG 96, Box 26.

22 Narrative Report for the Arizona and California Farm Properties for the
Month of June 1940, and Quarterly Report on Farm Properties Projects, April
1 to June 30, 1940, both in, Ibid.

23 Narrative Report, March 1941, Ibid.



[image: image108.jpg]101
Camelback has been operating at a profit."2¢ This prosperity continued
through the rest of the year.25
During the summer of 1941, a decision was made which would change
the dynamics of the Phoenix Homesteads and the Baxter Tract neighborhoods
forever, a decision which many people had looked forward to for some time. On
August 1, the Board of Directors of the Camelback Farms Incorporated voted
"that the President and Secretary of the Association be authorized to execute
a release and quitclaim of all the right, title, and interest of Camelback Farms
Incorporated in and to the land, improvements thereon, and appurtenances
thereunto belonging, to Phoenix Homestead Association."26 This meant that
40.179 acres of land, thirty-five homes, and the community center of the
Baxter Tract detached themselves from direct management by the
government and presented themselves to the Phoenix Homestead Association.
The two neighborhoods had functioned as one ever since the completion
of the Baxter Tract; now they legally performed as a unit. Along with this
transfer, new tenure agreements were assigned and reduced the selling price of
the homes on the combined Phoenix Tract. Only one member refused to sign,
despite a reduction in the selling price from $3,648.78 to $2,610.00. In
addition, a new selling price for the entire new tract was set at only

$100,505.0027 Amazingly, this figure was only $11,355 more than the

24 Narrative Report, May 1941, Ibid.

25 Narrative Reports for June, July, and October 1941, Ibid.

26 Note for Transfer, August 1, 1941, RG 96, Box 90; Amendment to Lease,
and Minutes of Special Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Camelback
Farms Incorporated, Ibid.

27 Report on Examination, Phoenix Homestead Association, Near Phoenix,
Maricopa County, Arizona, For: Two Months Ended December 31, 1937,
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amount the government had sold the entire Phoenix Homesteads for a few
years earlier.

Unfortunately, this change did not benefit the farming operation. For
the third year in a row, the Camelback Farms experienced bad times. Losses
in 1942 were anticipated to come to $150 for the dairy and $78.70 for the
poultry.28 Adding to the troubles, an accident by one of the neighbors resulted
in several tons of hay going up in flames.29 These losses may seem minimal in
light of today's inflated economy, but in the first year of America's
participation in World War II they were considered significant. The following
portion of a letter provides interesting insight into what the resident manager

felt:

During the month of May at Camelback Farms,
Inc., we have had plenty of ups and downs. If there ever
was need for a real co-operative to be put into operation it
is now. It seems that it is impossible to get men who have
had experience or will take any interest in the work for any
length of time. Of course we know and willing admit that
high wages and short hours are bound to draw the men
away from the farm who have any ambition. It has been
very discouraging trying to get a herd of 55 good cows
milked twice a day with men that have had little or no
experience. It has been necessary sometimes to have four
or five employees including myself and my boys to
accomplish the necessary end at the dairy. The sales have

Calendar years 1938, 1939, 1940, and 1941, and Six Months Ended June 30,
1942, RG 96, Box 12.

28 Hewes to Mason Barr, Director of Resettlement Division of the FSA, March
3, 1942, RG 96, Box 90.

29 Narrative Report, May 1942, RG 96, Box 26. This incident was confirmed
by E. Anderson's interview with Evelyn and Richard Kidwell, Original
Residents, Phoenix, Arizona, 21 October 1992.
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been very good. It takes 90 to 100 gallons a day to supply
the demand.30

While some amount of success had been achieved through the buying
group established in the summer of 1941, a functioning cooperative enterprise
for the farm had yet to be successfully organized. If food for family tables could
be purchased as a cooperative, then why not also feed for the dairy and poultry
operations? A hope persisted that "co-operative channels might offset at least
a portion of the anticipated loss shown for the crop farm," but as a group, the
people at the Baxter Tract and Unit B never seemed willing to make the effort
to create a working consumers cooperative at the Farm.31 One resident had
found it easier to simply purchase dairy products and other supplies from other
sources, particularly from the Foote farm located just across Thomas Road.
Grocery stores in Phoenix would deliver to anyone who purchased $10 worth of
goods.32

Favorable social relations endured throughout the history of the
community. However, this did not necessarily hold true when money was
involved. Because the Arizona Part-Time Farms was a cooperative venture, it
is normal to assume that people placed working for the betterment of the
group above individual progress. Indeed, many of the creators of the program
hoped for this. As Paul Conkin wrote, "The whole history of the New Deal

communities could be related to the idea of co-operation, which was to replace

30 Stanley E. Winchester, Project Manager to James L. Shelly, Area Farm
Supervisor, Farm Security Administration, June 1, 1942, RG 96, Box 26.

31 Hewes to Barr, March 3, 1942, RG 96, Box 90.

32 Tnterview with Jack Mott, Original Resident, Phoenix, Arizona, 22
February 1993.
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competition and extreme individualism."33 Oftentimes the members of the
Camelback Farms did function in this capacity, yet, other times they did not.
The following incident, though certainly not the norm, points to the reality that
no matter how careful homesteaders had been selected, they did not all come

with the same idealism with which the program had been founded.

At Camelback Farms in Arizona all the 69 families of the
project belonged to one cooperative association. However,
only 10 worked on the farm; the other 59 lived in houses on
the project and worked in the near-by city of Phoenix. The
members working in the city earned at least $140 a month.
Forming a majority in the cooperative, they voted to pay
those who worked on the associations farm a wage of only
$60 in order to get cheap production of food products for
their use and to have a better chance to get a surplus for
distribution at the end of the year. It became necessary to
form a separate association for those who worked on the
project to prevent such exploitation by those who did not.34

The fate of the Baxter tact hinged upon the success of the Camelback
Farms. It may be easier to view the farming and the housing sections as
separate and then to analyze their success individually, but this would overlook
the intention of the Resettlement Administration. Both units were to
compliment each other and the farming operations were to be extensively
intertwined within residential life. Thus, while the housing unit may have
served its purpose more economically, as a whole, the Baxter Tract did not

operate as smoothly as the Resettlement Administration intended. In many

33 Paul Conkin, Tomorrow a New World: The New Deal a Community Program
(Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, 1959), p. 202.

34 Joseph W. Eaton, Exploring Tomorrow's Agriculture: Cooperative Group
Farming-A Practical Program of Rural Rehabilitation (New York: Harper &
Brothers, 1943), p. 107.



[image: image112.jpg]105
respects, the reason the housing unit suffered the troubles of poor occupancy
can be linked to the farm. It seems clear that the manner in which the Phoenix

Homesteads were established provided a much more manageable situation.
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Conclusion:
Liquidation of the Phoenix Homesteads

The management of completed subsistence homestead communities
was passed on to local cooperative homestead associations composed of the
homesteaders residing in the neighborhood. The cooperative properties of the
Camelback Farms were leased to cooperative associations by the government.
Both positive and negative effects flowed from each of these experiences. Yet,
prosperity was much more elusive on the Camelback Farms.

The perplexing situations witnessed on the Camelback Farms reflected
occurrences at many other cooperatives around the country. The frequency of
these failures only contributed to the program's already tarnished image.
Support had never been particularly strong, but as the Roosevelt
administration turned its attention to World War II, censure of the program's
activities turned into almost constant denunciation. "Communities, once so
loved and cherished by their planners and creators, became, in the minds of
many congressmen, disreputable, heretical, and exceedingly wasteful symbols
of misguided idealism or even of ideological treason," writes Conkin.l The RA
and FSA had been handed a challenging task. Their job only became less
popular as changing economic and global events overshadowed the urgency for

resettlement projects.

1 Paul Conkin, Tomorrow a New World: The New Deal a Community Program
(Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, 1959) , p. 214; Sidney Baldwin,
Poverty and Politics: The Rise and Decline of the Farm Security Administration
(Chapel Hill, North Carolina: The University of North Carolina Press, 1968) ,
p. 125.
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The slow, steady deterioration of the FSA led to a number of changes.
On October 1, 1942, under pressure from Congress, the President signed an
Executive Order transferring all FSA housing where the family did not earn its
chief income from farming, to the Federal Public Housing Authority (FPHA).2
In the meantime, cooperative associations, such as the Camelback Farms,
remained under direct management of the FSA. Members of the Phoenix
Homesteads, by this time an essentially self-supportive entity, did not feel any
direct impact from the substitution. It was after this change in management,
more than during any other period, that the homesteaders were left largely to
their own devices. However, the Board of Directors of the Phoenix Homesteads
chose not to accept the responsibility of taking over the mortgages then held
by the government. This delayed the final disposition of the homesteads.

Liquidation became the primary goal of the FPHA.3 Nevertheless, it
took a number of years for the FPHA to discharge the numerous properties it
secured from the FSA, and in the end, they too had to pass a number of
homestead properties onto another agency. In July 1947, the few homestead
properties still owned by the government, including a number of individual

properties on the Phoenix Homesteads, were transferred to the Public Housing

2 Report on Examination, Phoenix Homesteads Association, Phoenix Maricopa
County, Arizona, For Three Months Ended September 30, 1942, Record Group
96, Box 12, Records of the Farmers Home Administration, National Archives,
Suitland, Maryland. At the time of the transfer the Board of Directors were as
follows: Ken Brown, President and Director; Clarence Ashcraft, Vice President;
Richard Zenger, Secretary Treasurer; Richard Kidwell, Director; James L
Shelly, Director; George Wintz, Manager. Twenty-eight other subsistence
homestead communities were affected by the change. Conkin, Tomorrow, p.
217. National Housing Agency, Federal Public Housing Authority, Third
Annual Report of the National Housing Agency, January to December 1944
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1935).

3 National Housing Agency, Third Annual Report, pp. 213-14.
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Administration (PHA), and hastily sold. The PHA encouraged residents to
secure private financing in order to pay off their debts to the government,
something the last few government mortgage holders at the Phoenix
Homesteads soon did. By early 1948 the PHA sold its remaining interest in the
Phoenix Homesteads.4 The eventual outcome of the Chandler and Glendal
Part-Time farms is unclear. However, they would have followed a similar
pattern of liquidation. Today, a few houses remain at the Glendale site, but the

apartment buildings at the Chandler Tract are completly gone.

Adding to the deterioration of the resettlement program, in 1943, the
FSA faced a Senate investigation, following a long period of derision and
accusation. Representative Harold D. Cooley led the inquiry and optimistically
looked forward to shutting down the FSA. In 1944, after months of testimony
and little defense from the Roosevelt administration, numerous indictments
were leveled against the FSA. Among other things, it was charged with
instigating unauthorized collective farms, too closely monitoring its clients,
granting loans to unqualified persons, supporting industrial enterprises which
competed with private businesses, and allowing an overly large and inefficient
administrative organization.® Other than being a small financial debit, the
Camelback Farms did not cause the FSA too much trouble, particularly in

4 Deed, Public Housing Administration to Phoenix Homesteads, April 15, 1948.
Public Housing Administration, Ratifying Action of Phoenix Homesteads,
January 8, 1948. MSS-89, Box 1, Phoenix Homesteads, Department of
Archives and Manuscripts, Arizona Collection, Arizona State University,
Tempe, Arizona.

5 Ibid. , p. 227.
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comparison to larger and more costly projects. Still, it was part of the overall
incompetence of the FSA and had to be dealt with accordingly.

Before the FSA disbanded, it took several necessary steps to rid itself of
the homestead and cooperative properties still under its jurisdiction. The
Camelback Farms counted among these possessions. Therefore, in the
summer of 1944, after the Senate investigation, the FSA made arrangements
to cancel the association's lease on the land and place it on the auction block.
On July 22, 1944, the government annulled the lease on the Camelback
Farms. Later that year, in December, upon receiving the final payment of
$718.19, the Acting Regional Director noted the following comment regarding
the farms: "liquidated, has disposed of all its assets and is no longer

operating."6

The Phoenix Homesteads were a multi-faceted exploration into
community building and cooperation. Born from an idealist notion that the
country could be reworked into small semi-rural neighborhoods with the
members sharing in economic and social prosperity, they were part of an awe
inspiring probe encompassing six government agencies, costing millions of
dollars, and changing the lives of thousands of families. Ultimately, the various
projects were instructive in lessons about urban planning, low cost housing,
government sponsored socialism, and human nature. The Phoenix

Homesteads were also part of a very controversial experiment. Financial

6 Cancellation Notice for General Accounting Office, RG 96, Box 11; Louis
Heaton, Acting Regional Director, to Ivan McCarty, Finance Area Manager,
December 19, 1944, Ibid. The final payment was received on December 12,
1944.
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mismanagement, poor organization, ambiguous goals, questionable objectives,
and public scorn pervaded the various agencies. The Phoenix Homesteads
clearly experienced both the negative drawbacks and the positive capabilities
identified by both sides of the debate, and their continued existence places
them as an important reminder and indicator of the New Deal community

program goals.

The primary focus and the greatest significance of this thesis has been
uncovering the community's rich history. Until this time, the record of the
Phoenix Homesteads has been cryptic and clouded by uncertainty. Now, for
the first time, the people and events associated with the conception,
construction, and management of the Phoenix Homesteads are clearly
presented, making a valuable contribution to the annals of this historic district.
Picking and choosing the pertinent information from the hundreds of pages of
information found in the National Archives has resulted in an document
crafted to highlight the district's history.

Clearly visible are the six government agencies and the influences they
held over the project. Better understood are the people, from Paul V. Fuller,
Robert T. Evans, Helen Baxter, and Stanley Winchester, to the various board
members of the association, and the roles they played in advancing the
Phoenix Homesteads. More defined are the direct progression of events
including national planning, site surveying, building crews, and construction
problems which led to the project's completion. All these factors being brought
to light makes the detailed planning and the specific intentions behind the

project more comprehensible. Finally, looking in on the day to day operations
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of the homesteads and the Camelback Farms, the problems and positive
outcomes are brought into focus.

The secondary goal of this thesis has been to emphasize the Phoenix
Homesteads as they fit into the conglomeration of New Deal community
building programs. Across the country, in differing formats, subsistence
homesteads and part-time farm projects were instituted. Delineating the
homesteads place in this national program demonstrates its uniqueness and
its representativeness, putting its experiences in perspective in a way no other
form of analysis can provide. This further adds to the study's importance.
Conkin's study, Tomorrow a New World: The New Deal Community Program, is
integral for making the necessary comparisons.

The Phoenix Homesteads have proven to be representative of the other
resettlement projects in a number of respects. More obvious points include the
positive and negative experiences under the various government agencies and
the resultant changes springing from attempts at a centralized versus a
decentralized scheme of management. The dilemmas brought on by combining
cooperative farming with part-time farming, as was done with the Camelback
Farms, also proved to be typical. And the peripheral influences which altered
the outcome of the homestead projects, such as community involvement and
the tendency to eschew cooperative relief efforts when prosperity returned,
were all typical of the national program.

Another factor which points to the Phoenix projects being characteristic
are the minor annoyances encountered by the residents. For example, the
controversial nature of the project led to the not uncommon feeling by many
residents that they were on display. As Conkin noted in his study, "Some of

the communities aroused almost as much critical curiosity as nudist
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colonies."? The severity of the problem did not reach such a critical point at
the Phoenix Homesteads, however the government's prying investigations did
present an inconvenience. One of the first residents at the Rural Homes In
Arizona, Unit B, recalls that a steady flow of visiting officials from Washington,
D.C., always asking questions, making notations, and bursting, uninvited, into
a person's home caused quite a commotion.8 Other minor complaints, such as
the travel distance required to get to the city, were also prevalent.

Nevertheless, the Phoenix Homesteads are also distinctive. They are
one of the few projects which followed each of the six government agencies
involved in the community building program, and they are illustrative of the
varying goals of each of these agencies. Additionally, the first phase, the
DSH's Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, is one of only four other projects
started in the far West.

Further setting them apart, the Phoenix Homesteads had been finished
with relatively few problems, were settled by an exceptional group of people,
had classy, high quality homes designed by one of the Valley's more respected
architects, were one of the first projects conveyed to a homeowners association
which functioned smoothly and without incident, and were sold for an
impressive 97% of their total cost. For these reasons, the Phoenix
Homesteads have been classified as one of the "most prosperous and

successful of all New Deal communities."9 While the rural resettlement

7 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 212.

8 Interview with Jack Mott, Original Resident, Phoenix, Arizona, 22 February
1993.

9 Conkin, Tomorrow, p. 216.
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program, as a whole, may not be worthy of praise, the Phoenix Homesteads
offer many special lessons and stand as at least one portion of the overall
program which operated admirably.

The Phoenix Homesteads confirm the potential success for stable
community building through subsistence gardening as opposed to cooperative
farming. They demonstrate the efficiency of a decentralized scheme in
implementing resettlement projects. By utilizing local resources and
information, the DSH created a comfortable environment in which to place the
homesteads. In addition, the project promotes the idea that a group of people
can and will work together for the good of the group, while still warning against
infringing upon a person's individuality. The people still enjoying the
community today are living proof of the durability, practicality, and aesthetic

longevity of such a planned community.

In 1980, an unexpected event led directly to the people living in the
Phoenix Homesteads neighborhood organizing and pushing for recognition as a
historic district. The seven year process serves as a model of how community
action can serve to promote the positive benefits of historic preservation, and
the residents working together recalls the ideals instilled in the homesteads
over fifty years ago; people working together for the betterment of the
community.

In mid-1980, the Creighton School District, owners since 1948 of the
former community center and adjacent park, began making plans to infringe

upon the aesthetic attractiveness of the neighborhood by moving temporary
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buildings onto the park's open lawn.10 Upon hearing of this damaging
undertaking, members of the neighborhood organized and planned to voice their
concerns at the School Board's October meeting. Vaguely aware of their
neighborhoods historical roots, the residents were taking what would prove to
be an important step in preserving the historical integrity and documenting the
historical significance of their extraordinary neighborhood.11

At the October 14, 1980 meeting of the Creighton School Board, a
strong showing of inquisitive homestead residents filled the normally empty
seats. Unfortunately, the residents' considerations were disregarded by the
school board. The board acted under the mistaken assumption that if a
problem is ignored it will go away. Instead, the board's actions had the opposite
affect. As Esther Anderson recalled, "they roused a sleeping tiger."12 Angered
by the rude treatment, members vowed to take action.

Shortly after the meeting, a disgruntled Anderson, a resident since 1949,
wrote a letter to the School District. She concisely explained the
neighborhood's interest in their community and questioned the honesty and
motivations of the District. Accurately summarizing the community's
interests, Anderson expressed a desire to see the School District and the

neighborhood "work together for a better community, not only for the present,

10 The 1and had been sold for $12,000. Deed, Phoenix Homesteads to
Creighton School District, Number 14, E. Anderson's Personal Collection of
Documents Relating to the Phoenix Homesteads.

11 Interview with Esther Anderson, Resident of the Phoenix Homesteads,
Phoenix, Arizona, 22 July 1993.

12 1pig.
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but for generations to come."13 No reply was made to Anderson's seemingly
noble and reasonable request. This further infuriated the residents and
resolved them to mobilization.

The inaugural meeting of homestead residents came in April of 1981,
where the first of what has turned into an annual picnic was scheduled for the
18th.14 Still unsure as to what means were available to them, a desire existed
to revive the old association which the Arizona Corporation Commission had
terminated in 1965.15 Subsequent newsletters reminded the compatriots of
the benefits such an association could offer them. Better zoning, increased
property values, block watch, "beautification,” and a clearer understanding of
the neighborhood's history were all at stake.16

On August 29, 1981, the Phoenix Homestead Association Incorporated
was reestablished, community participation rose, and visions about the
possible future plans for the neighborhood were being deliberated. 17 From
these beginnings, the Phoenix Homestead Association went on to contact the
State Historic Preservation Office, and later the Phoenix Historic Preservation

Office for advice and support. James Woodward, a local historical preservation

13 Esther Anderson to Alice H. Cobb, President, Creighton School No. 14,
October 24, 1980, Anderson Collection.

14 Interview with E. Anderson, 22 July 1993. Phoenix Homestead, Memo to
Residents and Neighbors, April 1980, MSS-89, Box 1.

15 Termination of the Phoenix Homestead Association Inc., by the Arizona
Corporation Commission, March 26, 1965, MSS-89, Box 1.

16 Newsletters, July 1981-, MSS-89, Box 1.

17 Articles of Incorporation, Phoenix Homestead Association, August 29,
1981, MSS-89, Box 1.
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consultant, was hired to propose the community as a historic district. In
October 1987, the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) accepted his
nomination of the Phoenix Homesteads Historic District. Subsequently, in
January 1990, the Phoenix Historic Property Register listed the Phoenix
Homesteads.18 Through this city-deemed status, the district is protected by
Historic Preservation overlay zoning, ensuring future additions to the homes
will be in keeping with the historical integrity of the neighborhood. An
architectural design review process must be met before building permits for
exterior work are granted. The Historic Preservation overlay zoning
which protects the properties today is remarkably similar to what the original
stewards hoped for over fifty years ago. Demonstrating that the obligation of
the neighborhood to retain its historic qualities is not something placed upon
the property owners only by modern-day historic preservation guidelines, one
can look upon the writings of the original custodians of the project. A January
19, 1937 letter from Edward Stone, Chief of Community Organization and

Maintenance Section, notes:

No improvements may be made without the approval first of
the Board of Directors, and secondly of the Regional Office. This is
because it is considered necessary to protect the community and the
various homesteaders from the possible damaging action of an
individual homesteader who unthinkingly does some construction
work without regard to the possible effects of this construction upon
the right of his neighbors to enjoy their property and without regard
to the unfavorable effects his action might have upon the value of his
property as well as upon the value of the project property as a whole.
. . . Since the contract makes it necessary to take into account
improvements made which have been approved by the Government,

18 Nomination, Phoenix Homesteads Historic District, National Register of
Historic Places, and various papers included in MSS-89, Box 1.
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it is very necessary that none but approved improvements be
permitted.19

Of course, much about the neighborhood has changed, the most striking
example being the development taking place around the district. Instead of
being a suburban oasis, the Phoenix Homesteads have been surrounded by the
sprawling metropolis of Phoenix. Forty of the original sixty homes from the
Rural Homes In Arizona, Unit B, and the Baxter Tract are still inhabited. The
all-important community center now serves as an office facility for the school
district. The farm land which used to dominate the landscape has been filled
with other houses, shops, and businesses. And while in the early days a person
would not have been surprised to see farm animals herded down the middle of
the street, today these streets are paved over and belong to a never-ending
procession of automobiles. Fortunately, in many ways, the district continues
to exude many of the important characteristics which the government aimed
at achieving.

To this day, as from its beginnings in 1933, community involvement is
one of the most attractive features of the Phoenix Homesteads historic
district.20 Presently, the neighbors of the Phoenix Homesteads continue to
keep their history alive through numerous activities. Monthly meetings are
held to voice concerns about the community, plan events, and discuss future
changes to the neighborhood. Recently, alocal resident was even married on

the steps of the former community center. The annual picnic in the parkis

19 Comments on Excerpt from December Monthly Report, January 19, 1937,
RG 96, Box 26.

20 The Creighton School District, once a thorn in the side of the neighborhood
organization, has become an active supporter of the community's interests
and values.
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well attended, bringing people together to share food and fun. And around
Christmas, the residents line the streets with luminaria and congregate at a
neighbor's home to celebrate the holidays and the community spirit.

Community interest and fellowship has always made the Phoenix
Homesteads stand out as a successful project. Today, because the residents
actively participate in upholding the traditions of the New Deal's urban
homestead experiment, the Phoenix Homesteads endure as a constant
reminder of the government's foray into organized community building. There
must always be a hope that future situations will not require such drastic
measures as the New Deal's community building program, but if it does, the
Phoenix Homesteads will stand as a gauge of where such a program should

head.
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Photographs from the Farm Security Administration/Office of War
Information Photograph Collections, Prints and Photographs Collection,
Library of Congress, Washington, D.C., and R. T. Evans' Drawing
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House on the Arizona Part Time Farm's Baxter Tract, June 1938
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